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www.export.org.uk

@ioexport

Choosing a great export training partner can really help your company take off in
the export trade! We can help develop new ideas and find ways to drive down
costs and produce sustainable improvements in your export business. Join us today

Membership : Training : Qualiﬁcations : Advice

Call: +44 (0) 1733 404 400 : email: institute@export.org.uk

Vietnam overview

Vietnam consists of five municipalities and 58 provinces. The country is made up
of several geographical and climatic regions which all have their own distinct
characteristics. The principal regions are the north, south and central areas of the country.
Vietnam has quickly developed from a low-cost labour economy to an enterprise
market containing high-value and high-quality products and services. Since 1986,
when its first economic reforms were introduced, the country’s GDP has doubled
every ten years. Due to its vibrant consumer base, and demand for high-quality
goods, Vietnam has experienced some of the fastest economic growth in Asia,
second only to China.

Many well-established UK brands such as HSBC, Karen Millen, Standard Chartered,
Clarks, Dr. Martens, Warehouse, Topshop and Oasis already trade in the Vietnamese
market. An increasing number are joining them, including Mini, Rolls Royce and Marks
& Spencer.

There are numerous high value opportunities (HVOs) for UK businesses in various sectors
in Vietnam, including agritech, education and training, energy, financial and professional services, infrastructure, and mass transport sectors.

MARKET EXPERTS

Thank you to our Market Experts
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Welcome from Samantha Pileggi –
Director of Commercial Operations, Institute of Export
& International Trade

The ‘Doing Business with Vietnam Guide’ introduces one of the world’s fastest-growing
economies and a market with an abundance of opportunities for UK traders. Unified
since 1975, Vietnam neighbours Cambodia, China and Laos and is a member of the
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), the Association of Southeast Asian
Nations (ASEAN) and, most recently, the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement
for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP).

The country’s development in recent decades, since economic and political reforms
launched in the late 80s, has been truly remarkable, with 45 million people lifted out of
poverty between 2002 and 2018, according to the World Bank. The future continues
to look bright, though there are signs of growth moderating slightly due to weaker
external demand and a tightening of credit and fiscal policies. However, projected
GDP growth of 6.5% for 2020 and 2021 suggests an economy in rude health.
Further, rapid demographic and social change makes for an increasingly young and
middle-class population. The population has grown from around 60 million in 1986 to
97 million in 2018 and is expected to reach 120 million by around 2050. 70% of the
population is under 35 years of age and a life expectancy of 76 years is the highest
among countries in the region with similar income levels.

Vietnam is the 21st largest export economy, according to the Economic Complexity
Index (ECI). In 2017, it exported US $220 billion and imported US $204 billion. Broadcasting
equipment, telephones, integrated circuits, textile footwear and leather footwear
are among its top exports, while integrated circuits, telephones, refined petroleum,
electrical parts and light rubberised knitted fabric are among its top imports. Vietnam’s
top export destinations are the USA, China, Japan, South Korea and Germany and it
imports most from China, South Korea, Japan, Singapore and Hong Kong.
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There is plenty of headway for the UK to increase its exports to Vietnam, though. The UK’s
current top exports to Vietnam include packaged medicaments, gas turbines, recovered
paper and broadcasting equipment, though http://www.ukvietnamtrade.com/ says
there are opportunities for UK businesses selling apparel and fashion, health supplements,
household goods, electronics and cosmetics and personal care – reflective of the
country’s growing middle class.

Businesses looking to Vietnam should note that it has a complex history and cultural
identity which you’ll need to learn and embrace. English is gaining in popularity,
though Vietnamese remains the dominant language and potential partners will
appreciate you trying to learn some basic phrases. When meeting people out there,
a handshake and slight bow is expected, and you will need to attend a lot of meetings before a successful deal is completed. Personal contact is necessary and be
prepared to visit the country a few times as Vietnamese people value being able to
show their hospitality. Silence is also common and can be a sign that your partner is
thinking deeply about your proposition, so try not to interrupt this time of reflection.

As ever, we at the Institute are here to help through our training, qualifications,
technical helpline and membership benefits, including access to our template
international terms and conditions which are often particularly useful when selling into
emerging markets. So if you’re looking to increase your trade with Vietnam, please
feel free to get in touch.

Samantha Pileggi
Director of Commercial Operations, Institute of Export & International Trade
www.export.org.uk
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BRINGING PEOPLE, BUSINESS AND
GOVERNMENT TOGETHER
The V
Vietnam-UK
ietnam-UK Network
Netw
brings together businesses, organisations and individuals to
cial, education, cultural links.
enhance bilateral understanding and to develop trade, commer
commercial,

The Vietnam-UK Network aims to:
Facilitate opportunities for networking and linkages in areas such as medicine,
culture, trade and investment, learning and education, trades unions and the
environment.
Support business trading or investigating Vietnam markets.
Encourage study of the two countries and cultures.
Support the UK – Vietnam Strategic Partnership and its subsequent action plans.

Become a member
and contact

vietnamuknetwork.org.uk

vietnamuknetwork.org.uk/contact-us/

linkedin.com/groups/7497016

facebook.com/Vietnamuknetwork

Foreword from Gareth Ward,
British Ambassador to Vietnam
Welcome to Vietnam!

2019 is proving to be another excellent year for the UK-Vietnam trade relationship.
Strong economic growth and a stable policy environment in Vietnam led to a credit
rating upgrade by Moody’s last year. Vietnam has also improved by 22 places in the
World Bank’s ease of doing business index since 2016. This has enabled strong growth
in UK export of goods and services.

Vietnam is a consistent advocate of free trade. Large volumes of FDI have created
new manufacturing supply chains, which have driven its transformation to middle
income status. Plans for the next stage of reform are ambitious, and this will provide
many new opportunities for UK business.

We recently launched new Prosperity Fund programmes in Vietnam which will support
sustainable and equitable growth and create trade opportunities in areas such as
green finance, healthcare, future cities and capital markets.
The last two years have seen even stronger diplomatic relations between our two
countries. We have had a record number of Ministerial visits in both directions leading
large business delegations in areas such as education and financial services.
I hope to see continued progress towards ratification of the EU-Vietnam FTA. This will
unlock enormous new potential for UK companies as Vietnam liberalises across a
number of sectors. The UK will ensure continuity through adopting the agreement
post Brexit.
On behalf of my colleagues at the Embassy in Hanoi and Consulate in Ho Chi Minh,
please get in touch for export advice - there is something for everyone!

Gareth Ward
British Ambassador to Vietnam
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Introduction from Baroness Neville-Rolfe DBE CMG –
Chair of the UK-ASEAN Business Council
Vietnam’s business-friendly policies, improvements in infrastructure, productive labour
force and stable politics have positioned them as one of the most attractive business
destinations in Asia. As the UK looks to strengthen its partnerships with countries around
the world, Vietnam stands out offering tremendous trade and investment opportunities
for UK companies.

The Vietnamese economy is the third largest and one of the fastest growing in
Southeast Asia. Vietnam’s real GDP growth is forecast to reach 6.5% in 2020 and 2021.
Its knowledge-hungry and tech-savvy population of around 94 million has a median
age of 30 and is increasingly educated, middle class and looking for quality products
and services – just what the UK has to offer.

Vietnam has signed 26 FTAs, is a member of the Comprehensive and Progressive
Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership and is about to sign the EU-Vietnam free trade
agreement. Business friendly policy reforms have resulted in Vietnam steadily climbing
up the World Bank’s ease of doing business rankings to number 68. Vietnam will assume
Chairmanship of ASEAN in 2020; it will also host the inaugural Vietnamese F1 Grand Prix
in Hanoi in April.
The UK-ASEAN Business Council sits at the heart of the UK-ASEAN business network,
linking UK and ASEAN Governments and business from Harrogate to Hanoi with the
aim of increasing economic prosperity.
This is the time for UK businesses to expand into this dynamic market.

Baroness Neville-Rolfe DBE CMG
Chair, UK-ASEAN Business Council
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Open to Export is a free online information
service from The Institute of Export & International
Trade, dedicated to helping small UK businesses
get ready to export and expand internationally

How can we help?
A wealth of free information and
practical advice on our website
using:
Step-by-step guides covering
the whole export journey from
‘Selecting a market’ to ‘Delivery
and documentation’

A comprehensive webinar
programme covering all aspects
of international trade

The online Export Action Plan
tool helping businesses create a
roadmap to successful new markets

Quarterly competitions for the
chance to win £3,000 cash and
further support
Sign up today to take your
next steps in international trade

Register for free on www.opentoexport.com for updates on
our content and webinars, and to start your Export Action Plan.

Powered By

Department for International Trade (DIT)
DIT is the British Government department that helps UK-based companies
succeed in an increasingly global economy. DIT also helps overseas
companies bring their high quality investment to the UK’s economy. DIT’s
range of expert services are tailored to the needs of individual businesses
to maximise their international success. DIT provides companies with
knowledge, advice and practical support.
Through a range of unique services, including participation at selected
tradeshows, outward trade missions and providing bespoke market
intelligence, DIT can help you crack foreign markets and get to grips
quickly with overseas regulations and business practice.

With headquarters in London, DIT have professional advisers around the
UK and staff across more than 100 countries.
Contact DIT

Contact your local International Trade Team or Scottish Development
International (SDI), Welsh Government (WG) or Invest Northern Ireland (INI)
offices to find out more about the range of services available to you.
You can find your nearest International Trade Team at:

https://www.great.gov.uk/contact/office-finder/
General enquiry number: +44 (0) 207 215 5000
Department for International Trade
3 Whitehall Place
London
SW1A 2AW
United Kingdom
Email: enquiries@trade.gov.uk
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WHO MADE SURE
THE SHOW WENT ON FOR
A THEATRE COMPANY
IN THE MIDDLE EAST?
Without support from UK Export Finance, White
Light wouldn’t have been able to take on a major
contract for a theme park in the Middle East.
Working with their bank we were able to provide a
government-backed guarantee. This freed up White
Light’s working capital to take on the contract,
which in turn boosted their revenues by over 20%.
TO FIND OUT MORE
VISIT GREAT.GOV.UK/GET-FINANCE
AND DISCOVER THE EXPORTERS’ EDGE.

UK Export Finance is the UK's
export credit agency
2XUPLVVLRQLVWRHQVXUHWKDWQRYLDEOH8.H[SRUWIDLOVIRUODFNRIILQDQFH
RU LQVXUDQFH IURP WKH SULYDWH VHFWRU ZKLOH RSHUDWLQJ DW QR QHW FRVW WR
WKHWD[SD\HU
:HKHOS8.FRPSDQLHVRIDOOVL]HVDQGLQDOOVHFWRUVZLQIXOILODQGJHW
SDLGIRUH[SRUWFRQWUDFWV:HSURYLGHLQVXUDQFHWRH[SRUWHUVDQG
JXDUDQWHHVWREDQNVWRVKDUHWKHULVNVRISURYLGLQJH[SRUWILQDQFH,Q
DGGLWLRQZHFDQPDNHORDQVWRRYHUVHDVEX\HUVRIJRRGVDQGVHUYLFHV
IURPWKH8.
$VWKHZRUOG VILUVWH[SRUWFUHGLWDJHQF\HVWDEOLVKHGLQZH YH
EHHQLQQRYDWLQJVLQFHGD\RQH/DVW\HDUZHSURYLGHGśELOOLRQRI
VXSSRUWIRU8.H[SRUWVKHOSLQJFRPSDQLHVVHOOWRPDUNHWV
DURXQGWKHZRUOGDQGVXSSRUWLQJDQHVWLPDWHG8.IXOOWLPH
HTXLYDOHQWMREV
RIDOOFRPSDQLHVVXSSRUWHGZLWKILQDQFHDQGLQVXUDQFHZHUHVPDOO
WRPHGLXPVL]HGEXVLQHVVHV.

To check your eligibility for trade finance and insurance Yisit:
www.great.gov.uk/WUDGH-finance

UK Export Finance is the operating name of the Export Credits Guarantee Department (ECGD)

Website: www.gov.uk/uk-export-finance
Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7271 8010
Email: customer.service@ukexportfinance.gov.uk

Powered by

Download the App for
Windows, Mac, iOS, or Android

Simply search
‘Doing Business Guides’
on Google Play or via
the App Store

About International Market Advisor (IMA)

International Market Advisor (IMA) works with British and foreign government departments,
Embassies, High Commissions and international Chambers of Commerce throughout
the world. Our work helps to identify the most efficient ways for British companies to
trade with and invest in opportunity-rich overseas markets.

During the last ten years IMA has worked
with the British Government's overseas
trade and investment department, the
Department for International Trade (DIT)
[formerly UK Trade & Investment (UKTI)],
and has written, designed, produced,
launched and distributed over one
million copies of more than 100 countryspecific print and multi-media based
reports, guides and publications, including
the internationally-recognised ‘Doing
Business Guide’ series of trade publications.

These are composed of market and
industry sector-specific, multi-format print
and digital trade reports, together with
some of the internet’s most visited international trade websites – all of which are
designed to advise and assist UK
companies looking to trade with and
invest in overseas markets. These reports
and guides are then distributed free-ofcharge through the IMA and DIT global
networks – over 500 distribution outlets in
total. Further distribution takes place at
global exhibitions, roadshows, conferences
and trade missions, and IMA receives
daily requests for additional copies of
the guides from these networks and from
businesses considering exporting.
Each of IMA’s 'Doing Business Guides’ is
produced in three formats: a full colour,
glossy, paper-based brochure; a supporting fully-interactive and updatable
multi-media based website; and the
website contents available as a free-ofcharge downloadable smartphone/
tablet app.

The guides’ contents focus on the market
in question, how to approach that market
and the help and support available, and
include informative market overviews,
plus details of business opportunities,
listings with website links to British and
Foreign Government support services
and essential private sector serviceprovider profiles.

Sponsoring a ‘Doing Business Guide’
therefore offers a unique opportunity to
positively promote your products and
services to high-profile business leaders,
specific exporters, investors and effective
business travellers who will be actively
seeking out service providers to assist
them in developing their business interests
in the targeted markets.

For more information on IMA
please visit our website:

www.DoingBusinessGuides.com
Contact IMA
Office address

IMA Ltd. 2nd Floor, 32 Park Green
Macclesfield SK11 7NA
Email: info@ima.uk.com

General enquiries switchboard
T: +44 (0) 1298 79562

Media enquiries
Newsdesk & out of hours
T: +44 (0) 1298 79562
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ABOUT THIS GUIDE

This guide aims to provide a route map of the way ahead, together with signposts to
other sources of help.

The main objective of this Doing Business with Vietnam Guide is to provide you
with basic knowledge about Vietnam; an overview of its economy, business culture,
potential opportunities and to identify the main issues associated with initial research,
market entry, risk management and cultural and language issues.

We do not pretend to provide all the answers in the guide, but novice exporters in
particular will find it a useful starting point. Further assistance is available from the
Department for International Trade (DIT) team in Vietnam. Full contact details are
available in this guide.

To help your business succeed in Vietnam we have carefully selected a variety of
essential service providers as ‘Market Experts’.
The guide is available in 4 formats:
•

•
•

•

the website: www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

this full colour hard-copy brochure

a ‘free’ downloadable 'mobile device-friendly’ app – available from the
Apple App Store and Google Play Store

PDF download/e-flipbook (available on the guide website)

Doing Business with Vietnam Guide Team:
Project Director:

Craig Smith

Sponsorship Managers:

James Clowes / Cheryl Hughes

Managing Editors:

Creative Managers:

Creative Consultants:

Production Co-ordinator:

Olivia Taylor / Brian Underwood
Paul King / Claire King

Twistedgifted / www.twistedgifted.com

Megan Collingwood / Kitty Waldron-Draba

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

Printed using materials
from sustainable sources

‘Doing Business with Vietnam Guide’ published in the UK by International
Market Advisor Ltd. © 2019 International Market Advisor Ltd (unless otherwise
stated). All rights reserved. Contains public sector information licensed under
the Open Government Licence v3.0.
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Skyscrapers in Ho Chi Minh business district and the Saigon River

VIETNAM

Vietnam has quickly developed from a low-cost
labour economy to an enterprise market
containing high-value and high-quality products
and services.
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WHY VIETNAM?

Why Vietnam?

Summary
Area:
331,212 km2

Annual inﬂation rate:
3.5%

Population:
94.58 million

Unemployment rate:
2.2%

Urban population:
35.9%

General government gross debt:
55.6% of GDP

Population density:
308.125 people per km2

Fiscal balance:
-4.4% of GDP

Population growth rate:
0.972% change

Current account balance:
US $5.8 billion/2.4% of GDP

Oﬃcial language:
Vietnamese

Exports of goods to UK:
£4,397 million

Currency:
Vietnamese Dong (VND)

Exports of services to UK:
£201 million

Nominal GDP:
US $241.3 billion

Imports of goods from UK:
£659 million

Real annual GDP growth:
7.1%

Imports of services from UK:
£264 million

GDP per capita:
US $2,551.1
[Source – FCO Economics Unit (Nov 2019), World Bank]
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Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

Vietnam has quickly developed from a lowcost labour economy to an enterprise market
containing high-value and high-quality
products and services. Since 1986, when its
ﬁrst economic reforms were introduced, the
country’s GDP has doubled every ten years.
Due to its vibrant consumer base, and
demand for high-quality goods, Vietnam has
experienced some of the fastest economic
growth in Asia, second only to China.
The population of Vietnam is recorded to be
around 94.6 million, which is the third-largest
in the southeast region, with over half below
the age of 30. Due to its young population,
the country has a growing demand for capital
and consumer goods, enlarging its already
growing domestic market.
Vietnam has begun an overhaul of
transportation infrastructure, including the
development of new urban railway networks
and a new international hub airport, as well as
working to expand existing regional airports.
In July 1995, Vietnam joined the Association
of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN). Following
its commitment to a number of ASEAN
agreements, the country has allowed itself
to become open to trade in the region. This
has furthered Vietnam’s integration into world
trade, providing numerous commercial
opportunities for businesses around the
world, including the UK. These opportunities
span across a number of sectors including
agriculture, education, energy, ﬁnancial
and professional services, healthcare, life
sciences, infrastructure and transport.
For exporters that are new to the region,
Vietnam’s strong economy makes the
country an excellent gateway for doing
business with other countries in Southeast
Asia.

Contact a DIT Export Adviser at: https://
www.great.gov.uk/contact/triage/location/
for a free consultation if you are interested
in exporting to Vietnam.
Contact UK Export Finance (UKEF) about
trade ﬁnance and insurance cover for UK
companies. You can also check the current
UKEF cover position for Vietnam. See: https://
www.gov.uk/guidance/country-cover-policyand-indicators#vietnam.
[Source – UK-ASEAN Business Council, DIT Trade
and Investment guide: Vietnam, UKEF, gov.uk]

Geography
Vietnam is a long, narrow, s-shaped country
that at its narrowest point spans around only
50 km from east to west. From north to
south, the country extends roughly 1,650 km
and is located on the eastern Indochinese
Peninsula between latitudes 8°N and 24°N and
longitudes 102°E and 110°E. Vietnam shares a
border with neighbouring China to the north,
and with Laos and Cambodia to the west, the
South China Sea to its east and the Gulf of
Thailand in the southwest.
Vietnam consists of ﬁve municipalities and 58
provinces. The country is made up of several
geographical and climatic regions which all
have their own distinct characteristics. The
principal regions are the north, south and
central areas of the country.
In the north of Vietnam there are two distinct
seasons. From November to April the country
is in a cold and humid winter; in the summer
months the climate is warm and wet. During
these summer months, there is also a threat
of potential typhoons.

26

The climate of central Vietnam can be split
into two regions — the north and the south.
Provinces in the north all share a similar
climate, where temperatures can reach
22-30°C, on the cusp of being a tropical
climatic zone. In the southern region, the
temperature can rise to 38-40°C, creating
a more tropical climate. These temperatures
can lead to monsoon winds and rains, with
March, April and May being the hottest
months.
The southern region of Vietnam has similar
climates to the central region; however,
highland areas such as Da Lat can experience
comparatively lower temperatures of around
21°C due to its 1,500 m elevation above sea
level.
[Source – DIT]

Political overview
Vietnam is a Communist state governed by
the Communist Party of Vietnam (CPV). The
4.4 million-member party is in control of the
country’s strategic direction and ultimately
makes all major decisions concerning any
policy issues. The Government consists of
the CPV General Secretary and President,
Nguyen Phu Trong; the Prime Minister,
Nguyen Xuan Phuc; and the National
Assembly Chair, Nguyen Sinh Hùng.
The Politburo — a government body made
up of the 16 most senior members of the
CVP — possesses the ultimate political power.
They preside over domestic economic
development, international integration and
national security, especially with regard to the
South China Sea. This ultimately leaves them
responsible for maintaining the political
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status-quo, as well as for providing the
country with strategic direction.
Vietnam’s parliament and legislative body is
the National Assembly. They have shown an
increasing willingness to provide an eﬃcient
oversight function in recent years.
All key political institutions, which includes
the National Assembly, court, government
ministries, government agencies, stateowned enterprises and oﬃcial status mass
organisations, contain members of the CPV
and any senior positions require membership
of the CPV.
To elect a new set of party leaders, the CPV
holds the National Congress every ﬁve years.
During the Congress, the previous ﬁve years’
progress is reviewed and a collective strategy
for the coming ﬁve is agreed upon. Most
recently, Congress was held in January 2016,
and a national election followed in May 2016
in order to elect the 500 deputies of the
National Assembly.
The pace of change within Vietnam has been
slow but continuous, making it more politically
stable than many of its Southeast Asian
neighbours. However, due to its one-party
regime, the CPV discourages disagreement
through restrictions on freedom of speech.
This has led to obstructions, including access
blocks to certain websites when using the
internet in Vietnam, which has aﬀected the
use of social media and personal blogs. This
can lead to many problems as the blocks
usually take place without any prior notice or
warning. Due to the rise of the middle class,
this has recently been challenged.
Conﬂict within Vietnam itself is uncommon
and tightly controlled, however some
high-proﬁle demonstrations have taken place,
including protests against the positioning of a

Chinese oil rig in the South China Sea,
demonstrations ﬁghting changes to Vietnam’s
Social Insurance Law, and continued unrest
surrounding land rights.
Consistent adoption of an open foreign policy
has allowed the country to focus on economic
and political international integration. Vietnam
continues to remain in close relationships
with China and Russia, both strong BRIC
countries. The country is now looking to
expand its relations to other countries/areas
such as the UK, the US, and the EU, as well as
its regional partners Japan, South Korea, India
and the ASEAN countries.
[Source – FCO Overseas Business Risk: Vietnam,
gov.uk, BBC]

Business and human rights
Although freedom of association and collective
bargaining rights are currently restricted, the
Vietnamese Government has agreed to
establish three key International Labour
Organization (ILO) conventions on both
collective bargaining and freedom of
association, as well as on forced labour
under the EU-Vietnam Free Trade Agreement.
‘Equal Remuneration for Work of Equal Value’,
‘Discrimination in Employment and
Occupation’, ‘Minimum Age for Employment’
and ‘Worst Forms of Child Labour’ are the
four further ILO conventions that the
government has ratiﬁed.
There was a revision of Vietnam’s Labour
Code in 2012 as approved by the National
Assembly. This revision included extending
maternity leave to six months, introducing
a minimum wage, capping the number of
hours employees can work over their oﬃcial
daily hours at 50%, reducing the maximum
term of work permits issued to foreign
nationals working in Vietnam from three
years down to two and removing the work
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permit exemption rule that applied to foreign
nationals intending to work in Vietnam for
less than three months.
All unions must be aﬃliated with the
country’s only trade union centre, the
Vietnam General Confederation of Labour
(VGCL). However, Vietnamese workers
cannot freely join or establish an independent
union. The National Assembly has recently
passed an amended version of the Law on
Trade Unions in order to protect the rights
of Vietnamese workers by deﬁning the
responsibilities and obligations oﬃciallyrecognised trade unions should be carrying
out.
Women still face discrimination in the
workplace, although female participation
is currently high.
In terms of LGBT rights, Vietnam is one of
the most progressive southeastern countries,
with the capital, Hanoi, hosting its Viet Pride
event annually. Even though the country is
tolerant of diﬀerent sexual orientations and
legal reforms have been put into place,
cultural discrimination against the LGBT
community still exists.
For more information about business and
human rights in Vietnam, see the Foreign and
Commonwealth Oﬃce’s Overseas Business
Risk pages at: https://www.gov.uk/government
/publications/overseas-business-risk-vietnam
/overseas-business-risk-vietnam#businessand-human-rights and the UK’s action plan
on business and human rights at: https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/bhraction-plan.
[Source – FCO Overseas Business Risk: Vietnam,
gov.uk]
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Economic overview
Vietnam made progress towards becoming
a full market-orientated economy in 2007
when it joined the World Trade Organization,
which helped the country to cement domestic
reforms. This had the additional eﬀect of
positively inﬂuencing foreign direct investment
(FDI), manufactured exports and property. As
more sectors become available to FDI, it is
likely that this beneﬁcial impact will continue.
The sustained economic growth that the
country has recently experienced means that
Vietnam now has a GDP of US $241.3 billion,
positioning it as a middle-income economy.
This is largely due to the country’s transition
into a market-orientated economy and away
from central state control.
Economic growth, in recent years, has
averaged at around 6.2%. In 2017, Vietnam’s
growth was recorded at 6.8%, increasing in
2018 to 7.1%. This growth has been led by
the manufacturing sector due to foreign
investment. Since 1991, Vietnam’s GDP per
capita has increased by 350%, making its
middle-class the fastest growing in Southeast
Asia.
Japan, South Korea, Taiwan and Singapore
have seen Vietnam as an attractive FDI
destination, with many other countries seeing
the advantages too. Annually the FDI inﬂows
average at 8% of GDP, higher than China and
the ASEAN markets.
Since 2010, electronics and mobile phones
have attracted many large investments,
resulting in around 70% of smart-phones
produced by Samsung being made in Vietnam.
More generally, over half of total FDI stock
is now in manufacturing, and most
manufacturing outputs go to overseas
markets.
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Computers, electrical goods and mobile
phones made up the majority of the £4.32
billion worth of goods imported into the UK
from Vietnam. In 2018, the total UK exports to
Vietnam were £863 million, and the UK, in
comparison to other EU members, actively
invests in Vietnamese education and training
and ﬁnancial services.
Vietnam’s economy has a large, strong state
presence, with more than 700 State-Owned
Enterprises (SOEs). The government plans
to privatise several of its major SOEs and
increase the use of PPPs for the development
of its infrastructure to help raise the amount
of participation given from non-state sectors
in the economy.
Vietnam is ranked 70th (out of 190) in the
World Bank’s ‘Ease of Doing Business 2020’
report, an increase of 12 places in overall rank
in comparison with three years earlier. The
new 2016-elected leadership is the reason
for this signiﬁcant improvement as they have
established a strong commitment to creating
conditions that are favourable in a business
environment.
See the World Bank’s full report on the issues
of doing business in Vietnam, at: http://www.
doingbusiness.org/en/data/exploreeconomies/
vietnam.
[Source – UKABC, World Bank, FCO Overseas
Business Risk: Vietnam]

Free trade agreements (FTAs)
Vietnam is a member of the World Trade
Organization (WTO) and of the Association
of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN).
Launched in 2015, the ASEAN Economic
Community (AEC) promotes reform and
helps to raise economic growth in the region

by improving trade facilitation, regulatory
reform and ﬁnancial development.
ASEAN is now an increasingly important
economic region which is:
•

made up of around 650 million residents

•

predicted to become the fourth-largest
single market by 2030

•

expected to add over 200 million
residents to the middle class

Overall, UK companies operating in the
Southeast Asia region beneﬁt from the AEC,
and intra-ASEAN tariﬀ reduction assists British
ﬁrms producing and shipping within the
region. See: http://asean.org/ for further
information.
ASEAN has signed six regional FTAs with:
•

China

•

Japan

•

South Korea

•

India

•

Australia

•

New Zealand

In 2019, the ASEAN and the EU signed an
FTA, the EU-Vietnam Free Trade Agreement
(EVFTA). This agreement will eliminate 99% of
tariﬀs, and 65% of duties on EU exports to
Vietnam will disappear with immediate eﬀect.
The remainder is due to be phased out over
the next ten years. Exports out of Vietnam to
the EU will have a reduction of 71% on duties,
with the remainder to be phased out over the
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next seven years. Depending on the Brexit
outcome, the UK will be able to participate in
government tenders as domestic suppliers
for the ﬁrst time.

8. Vehicles: US $6.4 billion (2.5%)
9. Cotton: US $5.1 billion (2%)
10. Fish: US $4.3 billion (1.7%)

There are also bilateral free trade agreements
with Japan, South Korea, Chile, and the
Eurasian Economic Union.
You will beneﬁt from preferential import
duties on goods and services provided by
your overseas subsidiary in countries that
have bilateral FTAs with Vietnam if your
company is in a contract with a Vietnamese
buyer.
[Source – FCO Overseas Business Risk: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Top imports
The top ten industries imported into Vietnam
in 2018 were:
1.

Electrical machinery, equipment: US $68
billion (26.6% of total imports)

2.

Machinery including computers: US $24.5
billion (9.6%)

3.

Plastics, plastic articles: US $13.2 billion
(5.2%)

4. Mineral fuels including oil: US $11.9 billion
(4.6%)
5.

Iron, steel: US $11.4 billion (4.5%)

6. Optical, technical, medical apparatus: US
$9.5 billion (3.7%)
7.
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See more about what Vietnam imports
at World’s Top Exports: http://www.
worldstopexports.com/vietnams-top-10imports/.
[Source – UK-ASEAN Business Council, World Bank,
DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam, World’s
Top Exports, FCO Overseas Business Risk: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

World rankings
• In Transparency International's latest 2018
Corruption Perceptions Index (announced
January 2019), Vietnam is ranked 117th out
of 180 countries (the UK ranks 11th): https:
//www.transparency.org/country/VNM
•

Vietnam is ranked 70th out of 190
countries in the World Bank’s 2020 Ease
of Doing Business Index (the UK ranks
8th): http://www.doingbusiness.org/en/
data/exploreeconomies/vietnam

•

The World Economic Forum’s Global
Competitiveness Report 2018-19 ranks
Vietnam 77th out of 140 (the UK ranks 8th):
http://reports.weforum.org/globalcompetitiveness-report-2018/countryeconomy-proﬁles/#economy=VNM

Contact a DIT Export Adviser at:
https://www.great.gov.uk/contact/triage/
location/ for a free consultation if you are
interested in exporting to Vietnam.

Knit or crochet fabric: US $6.5 billion
(2.6%)

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

Contact UK Export Finance (UKEF) about
trade ﬁnance and insurance cover for UK
companies. You can also check the current
UKEF cover position for Vietnam. See:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/country-coverpolicy-and-indicators#vietnam.

•

continuing economic reforms, with
sectors such as retailing being liberalised
to attract foreign investment

•

amongst the highest internet penetration
in Southeast Asia

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
UKEF, gov.uk]

[Source – UK-ASEAN Business Council, DIT Trade
and Investment guide: Vietnam, gov.uk]

UK and Vietnam trade
Many well-established UK brands such as
HSBC, Karen Millen, Standard Chartered,
Clarks, Dr. Martens, Warehouse, Topshop and
Oasis already trade in the Vietnamese market.
An increasing number are joining them,
including Mini, Rolls Royce and Marks &
Spencer.
Incentives for UK businesses exporting
to Vietnam
Incentives for UK businesses exporting to
Vietnam include:
•

member of ASEAN and its free trade area

•

one of DIT’s 20 high-growth markets

•

forecast to be one of the top ten fastest
growing economies in the next decade

•

continuing liberalisation of its economy

Beneﬁts for UK businesses exporting
to Vietnam
Beneﬁts for UK businesses exporting to
Vietnam include:
•

young population of around 95 million
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Da Nang, Vietnam: View of Dragon Bridge at sunset

VIETNAM

Taking part in overseas exhibitions is an effective
way for you to test markets, attract customers,
appoint agents or distributors and make sales.

34

HElP AVAILABLE FOR YOU

Help available for you

Support from the UK-ASEAN Business
Council (UKABC)
The UKABC is the leading UK-based
organisation promoting trade and investment
between the UK and ASEAN’s dynamic markets.
Working closely with the UK and ASEAN
Governments, key partner organisations
including the British Chambers of Commerce
in ASEAN, inﬂuential corporates, experienced
SMEs, market experts, and professional services
providers, they have created an extensive
UK-ASEAN business network that allows
them to provide unique market insights,
and links UK innovation and expertise with
ASEAN’s vast commercial developments.
Whether you are a UK company brand new
to exporting, or newly considering ASEAN as
an export destination, they are there to help,
and can provide practical advice and guidance
on how to do business in ASEAN, using their
ASEAN Export Specialists to link through to
their expert business partners in ASEAN –
the British Chambers of Commerce.
They also bring ASEAN to the UK through a
sustained calendar of events including market
/regional brieﬁngs, targeted meetings with
ASEAN decision-makers and promotional
events.
Contact: http://www.ukabc.org.uk/the-team/
if you are interested in discussing your ASEAN
export strategy with one of their specialists.

Support from the UK Department for
International Trade (DIT)
The UK Department for International Trade
(DIT) provides tailored support packages for
companies who are:
•

ﬁrst time exporters (FTEs)

•

small and medium-sized enterprises
(SMEs)

•

medium-sized businesses (MSBs)

Business opportunities
If you are a UK-registered company you can
beneﬁt from a unique programme, ‘Exporting
is GREAT’, presenting real-time export
opportunities that you can apply for online.
This is part of the drive to signiﬁcantly
increase the number of UK companies
exporting.
‘Exporting is GREAT’ is part of the UK
Government’s ‘GREAT’ campaign, and presents
live export opportunities to UK businesses
across a range of media outlets and digital
channels. Hundreds of these export
opportunities, with a potential total value
of more than £300 million, are hosted on:
https://www.great.gov.uk/.
Selling online overseas
Use this service to help choose a suitable
online marketplace to sell your products
overseas.
You can:
•

ﬁnd major online marketplaces in other
countries

•

see whether these online marketplaces
are suitable to sell your products

[Source – UKABC]
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•

discover how to list your products on an
online marketplace

•

get information about costs of listing on
the marketplace and how logistics are
fulﬁlled

•

access special terms negotiated by the
UK Government

DIT E-Exporting Programme
DIT’s E-Exporting Programme aims to help
you get your brand to millions of global
consumers and grow your business through
online exports. DIT’s E-Exporting Programme
helps you if you are a UK company:
•

new to selling online

•

already selling online, but need help with
speciﬁc issues

•

experienced in online sales, but are
looking to sell on multiple platforms
globally

The programme enables you to:
•

•

•
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arrange a free meeting through your local
DIT oﬃce to get expert international
trade advice and support, and access to
DIT’s global network of contacts. See:
https://www.great.gov.uk/contact/triage/
location/
meet a Digital Trade Adviser where
relevant, to help you develop and
implement an international online strategy
set up on e-marketplaces quickly and
also identify new e-marketplaces around
the world

•

access better-than-commercial rates to
list on some e-marketplaces, including
lower commission fees and ‘try for free’
periods. See: https://www.gov.uk/guidance
/e-exporting#preferentialrates

•

access the ‘E-Expertise Bank’, a community
of over 175 B2B/B2C service providers
oﬀering free advice. See: https://www.
gov.uk/guidance/e-exporting#eexpertise

•

join DIT’s mailing list for opportunities to
hear from industry experts, network with
like-minded individuals and ﬁnd out
about e-commerce trends

Find-a-buyer service
This is the place to let international buyers
know all about your business – highlight the
vital facts about your company to give buyers
conﬁdence to get in touch; show-oﬀ your
company's experience and outstanding
projects to give potential buyers more insight;
get emails from international buyers straight
to your sales or business development teams;
see relevant government-supported export
development events where overseas buyers
will be attending.
Events and missions
Taking part in overseas exhibitions is an
eﬀective way for you to test markets, attract
customers, appoint agents or distributors
and make sales. DIT's Tradeshow Access
Programme (TAP) provides grant support for
eligible SMEs to attend trade shows overseas.
Participation is usually as part of a group – a
great advantage for inexperienced businesses
– and is usually led by one of DIT's Accredited
Trade Associations (ATOs). ATOs work with
DIT to raise the proﬁle of UK groups and
sectors at key exhibitions.

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

The DIT calendar of events has some 400
core events and missions, and 1,000
opportunities across the Tradeshow Access
Programme and the English national regions.
DIT Events Portal
The DIT Events Portal provides a single
calendar view of all DIT events and missions,
and has been developed to provide you with
more-detailed information on each event
in order to help you decide on the most
appropriate event to attend. The calendar
can be ﬁltered and searched by sector and/or
market.
There are also detailed events websites which
include more information about each event,
and also allow you to register for an event.
The DIT Events Portal is your central hub for
business and networking opportunities.
Search for future events and missions, register
online and network with fellow delegates.
See: https://www.events.great.gov.uk/
ehome/index.php?eventid=200183029&.
DIT webinars
The DIT webinar service runs hundreds of
free hour-long internet events covering
topics, sectors and countries around the
world, helping you shape your export plan.
These events allow you to interact with the
experts in speciﬁc sectors and countries and
allow you to ask questions to enhance your
knowledge.
To see upcoming DIT webinars, please visit:
https://www.events.great.gov.uk/ehome/
index.php?eventid=200183029& and search
for webinars.

Other DIT services
DIT assists new and experienced exporters
with information, help and advice on entering
overseas markets such as Vietnam. These
services include:
•

an Export Health Check to assess your
company’s readiness for exporting and
help develop a plan of action

•

training in the requirements for trading
overseas

•

access to an experienced local
International Trade Adviser

•

help to grow your business through
online exports

•

specialist help with tackling cultural issues
when communicating with Vietnamese
customers and partners

•

advice on how to go about market
research and the possibility of a grant
towards approved market-research projects

•

ongoing support to help you continue to
develop overseas trade, and look at
dealing with more-sophisticated activities
or markets

•

information, contacts, advice, mentoring
and support from DIT staﬀ in the UK and
their network of staﬀ in Vietnam

•

support to participate in trade fairs in
Vietnam

•

opportunities to participate in sectorbased trade missions and seminars

•

access to major buyers, local government
and supply chains in Vietnam
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•

advice on forming international joint
ventures and partnerships

•

exploratory visits to Vietnam

•

alerts to the latest and best business
opportunities

To ﬁnd out more about commissioning any
of these services, contact a DIT Export
Adviser at: https://www.great.gov.uk/contact/
triage/location/ for a free consultation, or see
further details at: https://www.gov.uk/
government/organisations/department-forinternational-trade/about-our-services.

In-market support
If you already export and have decided Vietnam
is part of your business strategy, you are
advised to contact DIT at the British Embassy
Hanoi or at the British Consulate Ho Chi Minh
City prior to your visit to discuss your
objectives and what help you may need. See:
https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations/
department-for-international-trade-vietnam
#contact-us.
They can provide a range of Vietnamesespeciﬁc services for you, including the
provision of market information, validated lists
of agents/potential partners, key market players
or potential customers; establishing interest
from such contacts; and arranging in-market
appointments. In addition, they can also
organise events for you to meet contacts in
Vietnam, or to promote your company and
your products/services.
For further information about DIT services,
see: https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/department-for-internationaltrade/about-our-services.

Support from the Institute of Export &
International Trade (IOE&IT)
Raising the proﬁle of international trade
qualiﬁcations and experienced members
is only part of how IOE&IT membership is
essential for any individual or business
involved with global trade.
Importantly, the IOE&IT also oﬀer access to a
unique range of beneﬁts and services speciﬁc
to international trade:
•

Help with any export issues you come
across. Our team of experts can help with
questions on documentation, export
controls, the UK Bribery Act, customs
and VAT procedures, regulatory and
compliance issues, insurance issues,
payment terms, transport and logistics.
Members get free access to our experts
via a technical helpline. See: https://www.
export.org.uk/page/Export_Helpline.

•

A voice for your ideas and concerns. We
represent your point of view and feed
back to government, HMRC and other
inﬂuencing bodies on issues that impact
you, plus participate in Institute responses
to central government with regard to
proposed legislative changes.

•

A complete range of international trade
qualiﬁcations – for those that have no
experience, up to those who wish to
qualify themselves to take a business
degree. The Institute's qualiﬁcations are
widely recognised as providing both
employers and employees with the
necessary international business practice
linked to satisfying career planning and
development. See: https://www.export.
org.uk/page/qualiﬁcations.

[Source – DIT, gov.uk]
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Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

•

A range of short courses giving you the
skills and expertise you need to gain a
competitive advantage in the challenging
and complex world of export, import and
international trade. See: https://www.
export.org.uk/page/TrainingCourses.

•

An extensive events programme to help
you share information and connect at
every level in the international trade
community, whether it is sector-speciﬁc
or regional. See: https://www.export.org.
uk/events/event_list.asp.

•

Inclusion in surveys to research the
attitudes and changes to world trade.

For more information on how the IOE&IT
can help you, or on becoming a member,
contact the IOE&IT at: https://www.export.
org.uk/page/about.
Open to Export
Open to Export is the IOE&IT’s free online
advice service for UK companies looking to
grow internationally. It oﬀers free information
and support on anything to do with exporting
and hosts online discussions via its forum,
webinars and social media, where businesses
can ask any export question and learn from
each other.
Open to Export can be accessed at:
http://opentoexport.com/.
[Source – Institute of Export & International Trade]
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Ho Chi Minh City in Vietnam at night

VIETNAM

Your passport should be valid for at least six
months from the date of entry to be eligible for
the 15 day visa exemption.
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GETTING HERE AND ADVICE ABOUT YOUR STAY

Getting here and advice about your stay

Entry requirements
Passports
Your passport should be valid for at least six
months from the date of entry to be eligible
for the 15 day visa exemption.
If you wish to stay for a period of longer than
15 days and your passport is due to expire
in less than one month after the date of
expiration of your Vietnamese visa, you may
be refused entry into Vietnam.
Make sure your passport is in good condition
and not damaged before arriving in Vietnam,
as you could be refused entry, resulting in
signiﬁcant cost and a long stay at the airport.
See: https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/damaged-and-faulty-passports
/damaged-and-faulty-passports-policy for
further information.
Visas
‘British citizen’ passport holders who are
travelling for tourism or business until the 30th
June 2021, can enter Vietnam without a visa
for up to 15 days. If you have a diﬀerent British
nationality, such as you are a ‘British national
(overseas)’, you will need a visa in order to
enter Vietnam.
For all stays of longer than 15 days, you will
need to get a visa before you travel (or if you
wish to re-enter Vietnam within 30 days of
your departure). You will need a multiple
entry visa if you plan to leave Vietnam and
re-enter from another country.
If you are travelling for business you are
advised to contact relevant Vietnam
Government departments in advance, to
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check if you will need any licenses to carry
out your duties.
For visits of up to 30 days, if you have a
‘British Citizen’ passport, you can get an
e-visa online before you travel, at: https://
evisa.xuatnhapcanh.gov.vn/. However, use of
the e-visa is limited to certain entry/exit points
which you have to select at the time of application. A regular single entry visa from the
nearest Vietnamese Embassy allows more
ﬂexibility if you do not have ﬁxed travel plans.
For visits of longer than 30 days, all visitors
need to get a visa from their nearest
Vietnamese Embassy before travelling.
There are a few other types of visa which
you might consider – check for the latest
information at the FCO Foreign travel advice
pages on gov.uk at: www.gov.uk/foreigntravel-advice/vietnam. If you have questions
about entry requirements for your speciﬁc
itinerary, you should contact the Vietnamese
Embassy in London at: http://vietnamembassy.org.uk/ or the nearest Immigration
Oﬃce if you are already in Vietnam.
Do not overstay your Vietnamese visa
without permission as you may be delayed
from travel until a ﬁne is paid.
Land borders
Some crossing points that border Cambodia
and Laos allow only Cambodian, Vietnamese
and Laotian nationals to cross. Before you
travel to these points it is important that you
check locally.
Yellow fever certiﬁcate requirements
You should check the latest information
on the National Travel Health Network and
Centre’s TravelHealthPro website at:
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https://travelhealthpro.org.uk/country/240/
vietnam#Vaccine_recommendations to see
if you need a yellow fever certiﬁcate.
UK Emergency Travel Documents
UK Emergency Travel Documents (ETDs) are
valid for entry, airside transit and exit from
Vietnam. You will need an exit visa from the
Vietnam Immigration Department in order to
leave the country if your passport is lost or
stolen and your ETD was issued in Vietnam.
This process normally takes ﬁve working days.
Contact the Vietnam Immigration Department
directly for further information.
Registration
Once you have arrived at your hotel you will
need to surrender your passport in order to
register your details with local police. Keep
your passport in a safe place once the hotel
has returned it to you. Do not use your
passport as a deposit for renting the room.
You will still need to register even if you are
staying in private accommodation. Your
host should be able to help you with your
registration as soon as you arrive. If you do
not register, you may be ﬁned.
Travel advice
Before travelling to Vietnam, check the
Foreign & Commonwealth Oﬃce’s Foreign
travel advice pages on gov.uk for the latest
country information, local laws and customs,
safety advice and up-to-date travel advice.
See: www.gov.uk/foreign-travel-advice/
vietnam.
[Source – FCO Foreign Travel Advice: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Local laws and customs
There are severe penalties for the possession,
distribution and manufacturing of drugs. Even
if you are caught with a small amount, you
could potentially face the death sentence.
In Vietnam, illegal drugs can be much
stronger than in Europe and are often spiked.
In 2018, a music festival in Hanoi saw seven
illegal-drug-related deaths. Severe psychiatric
problems have arisen in a number of British
nationals due to drug usage. Do not take
illegal drugs.
Punishment for crimes, such as sexual
oﬀences, can lead to lengthy prison
sentences and in some cases the death
penalty. The standards of Vietnamese prisons
are incredibly poor, reﬂecting the lack of
development in their legal system. If you have
not yet been charged, you may still be
prevented from leaving the country.
Ensure that you respect religious and cultural
sites by honouring local traditions and wearing
appropriate clothing.
Same-sex relationships are not criminalised in
Vietnam, and the country is mostly tolerant of
LGBT travellers. Vietnam’s Civil Code now
recognises legal changes to a person’s gender,
and in 2015, the ban on same-sex marriages
was abolished — although same-sex marriage
is neither recognised nor protected. See
gov.uk’s information and advice page for the
LGBT community before you travel:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/lesbian-gaybisexual-and-transgender-foreign-traveladvice.
Vietnam is a signatory to the Convention on
International Trade in Endangered Species of
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Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES). Buying, selling,
killing or collecting wild animals and plants is
therefore illegal and those caught doing so
could receive prison sentences or ﬁnes.
Do not take photographs near military
installations.
Access to social media can be aﬀected by
Vietnamese internet restrictions.
[Source – FCO Foreign travel advice: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Personal attacks have been reported by
British nationals in areas popular with tourists
and expatriates, particularly in Hanoi. There is
a higher burden of proof the victim must
demonstrate, compared to the UK, to prove
an attack has taken place. Take sensible
precautions and women should not walk
alone, especially at night.
Arguments about hotel, restaurant or taxi bills
have been known to turn abusive. Before you
arrive you should research diﬀerent places to
stay, and to further avoid disputes, ensure you
are knowledgeable about the level of service
available and the prices you may be charged.

Safety and security
Crime
Visiting Vietnam tends to be free of trouble;
however, in order to keep yourself and your
belongings safe, sensible precautions should
be taken — especially in big cities and tourist
areas.
By law, everyone in Vietnam must carry
photographic ID with them at all times. Leave
all original documentation in a safe place, but
make sure you always carry a photocopy of
the personal details from your passport.
Companies have been known to hold back
passports against damage claims, therefore
do not hand over your passport to any third
party. This includes vehicle renting shops and
landlords.
It is uncommon to encounter violent thieves
in Vietnam, although it can happen, therefore
you should take particular care of your
belongings in crowded areas and tourist
spots as pickpockets and bag snatchers
(sometimes on motorbikes) are more likely
to operate in these areas. Distribute important
belongings over diﬀerent bags.
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It can be a long and diﬃcult process reporting
a crime to the police, consider taking
someone who can assist with translation.
Make sure you are conﬁdent when signing
documents as most will be written in
Vietnamese.
Incomplete police investigations following
traﬃc accidents can prevent foreign nationals
from leaving Vietnam. It can take some time
for these processes to be ﬁnalised and can
often end in foreign nationals being asked if
they will settle out of court. If you are a British
citizen facing this situation, you should seek
professional legal advice and representation.
Local travel
Adventure tourism in rural and mountainous
areas can be dangerous and remote,
therefore it may be diﬃcult for rescue services
to reach you if you have been in an accident.
During the rainy season, risk is signiﬁcantly
increased due to ﬂooding, which can cause
landslides. Safety standards are lower than
in the UK — make sure you have a reputable
guide and do not stray from marked paths.

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

Illegal tour guides operate in Vietnam, oﬀering
activities prohibited by local regulations. You
should avoid any guide you know to be illegal.
Guides are required in some areas so you
should make sure that your travel insurance
fully covers any planned activities.
Travelling close to military installations is
restricted and there are parts of Vietnam that
are relatively inaccessible. In order to visit a
village, commune or ward that is near a border,
permission from the provincial police
department may be required. Contact the
relevant local authority for more information.
Mainly in central Vietnam and along the Laos
border, there is a danger of unexploded
landmines. Be vigilant as these areas are
usually unmarked.
Ensure that any activities involving ﬁrearms
are carried out under the supervision of a
reputable guide and be aware that these
activities are undertaken at your own risk —
there have been reports of hearing loss from
leisure activities involving ﬁrearms.
Road travel
There have been a number of motorbike
accidents in Vietnam involving British nationals,
with some leading to serious injury or even
fatalities. Make sure you are an experienced
motorcycle rider and understand the roads in
Vietnam. Ensure your travel insurance covers
your activities.
There is poor compliance with local road
regulations. You should be prepared for the
unexpected and ensure that your speed is
kept down. If you are a passenger on a
motorbike, be aware that it is illegal to not
wear a helmet, and make sure you take out
comprehensive medical insurance.

It is possible that you could face criminal
charges or have to pay compensation to the
injured party should you become involved
in a traﬃc accident. If you are involved in an
accident or subject to an investigation, ensure
that you fully co-operate with the police and
inform the British Embassy Hanoi or the
British Consulate General Ho Chi Minh City.
British visitors who intend to drive cars or ride
motorbikes in Vietnam — as of 28th March
2019 — must present their UK domestic
driver’s licence and a UK-issued International
Driver’s Permit. If you are a long-term UK
resident of Vietnam you can qualify for a
Vietnamese driving licence as long as you are
in possession of a diplomatic ID, temporary
residence card/residence card valid for at
least three months and a valid UK driving
licence/UK-issued International Driver’s
Permit. You can apply for a Vietnamese driving
licence at the local oﬃces of the Department
of Public Works and Transportation.
Vietnamese Law states that you must have
third-party insurance.
When hiring a vehicle, never use your passport
as a deposit, and never use your passport in
place of a ﬁne for a traﬃc oﬀence.
Larger metered taxi ﬁrms are usually reliable.
Diﬀerent operators and meters set diﬀerent
prices, and meters should start at around
8,000 to 20,000 VND. You can ask your hotel
or a restaurant to book a taxi for you. Make
sure your driver identiﬁes who they are before
you begin your journey.
There are regular reports of taxi journeys
in and around tourist hotspots being
overcharged, especially in the Old Quarter of
Hanoi, and Ho Chi Minh and Hanoi Airports.
Make sure you check published taxi fares and,
if possible, book a taxi or order one from an
online app.
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Buses and coaches are poorly maintained
and crashes do happen, especially at night.
When travelling by bus, always make sure you
have your personal belongings and passport
hidden as thefts can occur. Be aware of buses
or coaches claiming to be hotel transfers as
many are bogus.
Travel by train is usually safe in Vietnam,
although remain vigilant on overnight trains.
Sea travel
Safety regulations vary in Vietnam. Check the
safety records, registration and certiﬁcation of
personnel with your tour guide before getting
on a boat. Make sure you have a full safety
brieﬁng. Take extra care when travelling
overnight to Halong Bay, boats have sunk
without warning. Tourist boats have also
been known to catch ﬁre.
Piracy is very rare in Vietnam. All incidents,
however, should be reported to the coastal
and ﬂag state authorities. See: https://www.
gov.uk/guidance/sea-river-and-piracy-safety,
for more information.
Political situation
Vietnam’s political system is single party and
does not tolerate dissent. Recently, there
have been a number of protests that have
become violent or have been suppressed
violently by the authorities. It is advised that
you avoid all protests.
Consular assistance
It is relatively diﬃcult to provide prompt
consular assistance in areas that are outside
Hanoi and Ho Chi Minh City as Vietnam’s
large size means that some areas have
poorly-developed infrastructure and
infrequent ﬂights.
[Source – FCO Foreign travel advice: Vietnam,
gov.uk]
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Health
You should visit your GP or health provider a
minimum of eight weeks prior to travelling to
Vietnam to assess any health risks speciﬁc to
you or the country itself, and to allow time for
any necessary vaccinations.
You can also receive useful information,
advice and guidance from the NHS via the
FitForTravel website at: https://www.ﬁtfor
travel.nhs.uk/destinations or the NHS Choices
website at: https://www.nhs.uk/using-thenhs/healthcare-abroad/.
Some medicines prescribed or purchased in
the UK can be of an alternative legal status
and regulations surrounding their usage may
vary in other countries. If it is necessary for
you to travel with either prescription or
over-the-counter medication, you should
consult the National Travel Health Network
and Centre (NaTHNaC) or TravelHealthPro at:
https://travelhealthpro.org.uk/factsheet/43/
medicines-abroad.

FCO Foreign travel advice
If you are travelling to Vietnam for business,
the Foreign & Commonwealth Oﬃce (FCO)
website has travel advice to help you prepare
for your visit overseas and to stay safe and
secure while you are there.
For up-to-the-minute advice please visit the
foreign travel advice pages on the gov.uk
website: https://www.gov.uk/foreign-traveladvice/vietnam.
Travel insurance
Make sure you have comprehensive travel
and medical insurance before you travel, as
well as accessible funds to cover the cost of
any medical treatment abroad and repatriation.
[Source – FCO Foreign travel advice: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Further up-to-date details – for instance, on
healthcare in rural areas, hospital requirements
and insect-borne diseases in Vietnam – can
be found on the Foreign & Commonwealth
Oﬃce’s Foreign travel advice pages at:
www.gov.uk/foreign-travel-advice/vietnam.
If you need emergency medical assistance in
Vietnam, dial 115 and ask for an ambulance,
and contact your insurance company
promptly if you are referred to a medical
facility for treatment.
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View over Hanoi, Vietnam

VIETNAM

There are numerous prospects and high value
opportunities (HVOs) for UK businesses in various
sectors in Vietnam, including agritech, education
and training, energy, financial and professional
services, infrastructure, and mass transport
sectors.
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SECTOR–SPECIFIC OPPORTUNITIES

Sector-speciﬁc opportunities

There are numerous prospects and high
value opportunities (HVOs) for UK businesses
in various sectors in Vietnam, including
agritech, education and training, energy,
ﬁnancial and professional services,
infrastructure, and mass transport sectors.

Research
Before exporting to Vietnam, you should
carry out extensive planning and market
research. Ideally you should use both desk
research and market visits, as you will need to
determine whether there is a market for your
product or service, and if your pricing is
competitive.
Public private partnerships
Public private partnerships (PPP) will be
important when funding Vietnam’s infrastructure
development as donor aid will cease as the
country gains a middle-income status. London
has world-leading experience in terms of PPP,
therefore UK companies are becoming
important strategic partners.
Contact the Department for International
Trade (DIT) trade specialists to ﬁnd local
representatives for your products via:
https://www.gov.uk/overseas-customersexport-opportunities.
From its worldwide network, DIT can provide
international export sales leads. Find export
opportunities in Vietnam at: https://www.
great.gov.uk/export-opportunities/. For more
information about opportunities and advice
on doing business with Vietnam, contact DIT
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at: https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations
/department-for-international-trade-vietnam
#contact-us.
[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Do not forget to check that your goods meet
legal requirements for export, at the UK
Export Control Joint Unit (ECJU) (formerly
known as the Export Control Organisation) at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations
/export-control-organisation.

Government tenders
In Vietnam, funds are shared between various
public procurement departments by the
Ministry of Finance, but there are no common
requirements across all government bodies,
so each ministry or agency sets its own
criteria and rules.
Some government tenders are formally
declared in both Vietnamese and Englishwritten newspapers. Vietnamese newspapers
include Nhan Dan, Lao Dong, Dau Thau and
Saigon Giai Phong, and Vietnam News and
Vietnam Investment Review are examples of
newspapers written in English.
Partnering with a Vietnamese ﬁrm may
improve your chance of success if applying
for a government tender. Check with the DIT
team in Vietnam at: https://www.gov.uk/
world/organisations/department-forinternational-trade-vietnam#contact-us for
assistance and information about government
tenders and use of third-party advisers.

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

Earlier this year (2019), the EU-Vietnam Free
Trade Agreement (EVFTA) was signed by the
ASEAN and the EU, meaning that businesses
in the UK can engage in government tenders
as domestic suppliers, although this is
dependent on the outcome of Brexit.
[Source – DIT, gov.uk]

Agritech sector
Feed and animal breeding
Vietnam is the third-largest market for meat in
Asia, valued at $13.5 billion. Globally, Vietnam
is one of the largest contributors towards the
10% increase expected for the global growth
in all meat-types import demands.
In 2018, Vietnam’s import value for animal
feed and materials for producing animal feed,
such as wheat, corn, soybean, fat and oil, was
valued to be around £2.5 billion. At least three
large animal feed factories were also set up
within this year for the commercial production
of animal feed. Animal feed that is domestically
produced is roughly between 35%-40% of the
total demand in Vietnam.
In 2020, the total value of the animal feed
market is predicted to be valued at $8 billion.
Dairy
By 2020, it is predicted that the dairy market
will reach a value of £6.1 billion, double the
value from 2015. The expansion of powdered
milk and other dairy products, in 2017, helped
to increase the country’s recovery growth
rate to reach 10.5%.

It is expected that growth will continue as a
result of the increasing population and
growing health awareness, although local
production is still a small portion of domestic
demand, reaching a self-suﬃciency level of
only 27%. Therefore, importing raw materials
is important to Vietnam due to limited local
capacity.
Value chain
In the coming years, greater importance will
be placed on sustainable agriculture and agrivalue chain development. It will be necessary
to improve all elements throughout the
supply chain in order to allow Vietnam to
produce high-quality processed agricultural
products that match international standards.
There will be a particular focus on optimising
agricultural practices and improving inputs
and eﬀectiveness.
Opportunities
Traditional conglomerates in Vietnam, including
VinGroup, THACO, FPT, and FLC, have begun
to turn towards the agricultural sector. This
has inevitably increased demand for
experienced foreign companies to help
design Vietnamese agricultural projects.
The demand for safe and traceable value
chains with decreased losses has created a
necessity for knowledge and technology in
the ﬁeld of smart agricultural planning.
Favourable trends resulting from this include
the collaboration between farmers, and
farmers contracting with enterprises.
Contact: ho.xuanhieu@fco.gsi.gov.uk for
more information on opportunities in
Vietnam’s agritech sector.
[Source – UKABC]
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Education and training sector
Numerous British education institutions have
set up in Vietnam and, due to the large market,
there is room for further institutions to set
up in the country. With more than 8,000
students, and the number rising by 15% each
year, the UK is now amongst the top ﬁve
destinations for overseas study.

•

teacher training

•

English language training

•

vocational and technical education

•

higher-education collaboration

Vietnam has:

•

school equipment

•

a relatively young population

•

an awareness of the importance of
education in the family

Contact: DIT.Vietnam@fco.gsi.gov.uk for more
information on opportunities in Vietnam’s
education sector.

•

the need for improved vocational training

In 2015, the Vietnamese Prime Minister
signed a decision to approve a US $37 million
curriculum project. During the last academic
year, the Ministry of Education and Training
planned to launch the curriculum and
textbooks.
Opportunity areas in Vietnam include:
•

curriculum reform

Dragon boat, Hue Vietnam
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[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Energy sector
Power
Between 2000 and 2012, power consumption
increased ﬁve times its value. This increase is
to continue, with an estimated 12%-15%
growth rate between 2015 and 2030.
By 2050, Vietnam has predicted that its
nuclear power plants will produce 20%-25%
of its overall power supply.

Vietnam’s power development plan includes:

Oil and gas
Vietnam is the third-largest producer of oil in
Southeast Asia, providing opportunities for UK
companies in services such as:

•

about US $130 billion investment in the
next 20 years

•

65.5% of investment to develop power
generation

•

seismic surveying for oil and gas
exploration

•

building nuclear power plants on seven
sites

•

engineering, construction and production
facilities

•

building 183 new power plants by 2025,
of which 90 will be coal-based

•

drilling and production technologies,
including drilling rigs (70 to 200 metres)

UK companies have opportunities in all
project phases including in consultancy and
equipment.

•

oil spill management

•

reﬁneries

Opportunities for UK companies in specialist
power areas include:

•

health, safety and environmental waste
management

•

education and training

•

consultancy

•

regulation and safety management

•

training and education

•

security

•

waste management

Contact: DIT.Vietnam@fco.gsi.gov.uk for more
information on opportunities in Vietnam’s
energy sector.

•

operation management

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
gov.uk]
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Financial and professional services sector
Recently, foreign investors have begun to
consider Vietnam as one of the most attractive
locations for business. A GDP of 7.1% in 2018
was a ten year high for the country.
The young population of Vietnam are
becoming some of the most conﬁdent
consumers in the world due to the country’s
strategic location and rapid development. As
a result, salaries have been increasing and a
market for more sophisticated ﬁnancial and
professional services has opened up. This
market is due to grow as a result of Vietnam’s
increasing aﬄuence and numerous economic
opportunities. This sector produces signiﬁcant
potential as currently only half of the potential
market use banking insurance and other
ﬁnancial services.
Foreign investors have been attracted to
Vietnam due to the country’s participation
within a number of FTAs. These have helped
new and existing participants enter the market
in an alternate way. There are concerns,
however, surrounding Vietnam’s regulatory
and tax regimes that are aimed at foreign
investors. Investors have also found challenges
in management and accounting standards
when entering Vietnam. This has made
privatisation a slow process.
Contact: tran.huonggiang@fco.gsi.gov.uk
for more information on opportunities in
Vietnam’s ﬁnancial and professional services
sector.
[Source – UKABC]

Healthcare and life sciences sector
Approximately 30,000 Vietnamese citizens
travel abroad for their hospital treatment
every year as a result of the country's mixed
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public-private healthcare system developing
slowly.
Incentives oﬀered by the government to
healthcare investors include:
•

lower corporate income tax rate

•

four-year tax exemption

•

land rent reduction/exemption for at least
seven years

Vietnam has a weak pharmaceutical production
and supply capacity, and spends over US $1
billion a year importing drugs into the
country.
To access opportunities in Vietnam, you
should consider not only direct exports, but
also joint ventures with local companies.
Domestic health equipment in Vietnam does
not yet meet national and international
standards of quality. As a result, most medical
equipment in Vietnamese hospitals has been
imported. There is signiﬁcant potential for UK
businesses in the medical equipment sector
as only 5% of the market is accounted for by
local production.
Contact: DIT.Vietnam@fco.gsi.gov.uk for more
information on opportunities in Vietnam’s
healthcare and life sciences sector.
[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Infrastructure sector
Vietnam has been one of the fastest-growing
Asian economies of the last decade, with a
GDP growth rate averaging at 6.2% between
2000 and 2017. The Vietnamese Government
recognises that infrastructure development
still needs to catch up, so the country has

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

prioritised transport infrastructure and has
planned to increase investment from US $7
billion (2001-2008) to US $120 billion (2020).

Contact: nguyen.nam@fco.gsi.gov.uk for
more information on opportunities in
Vietnam’s infrastructure sector.

Urban Railway
Development of four metro lines in Hanoi
and Ho Chi Minh City is underway – expected
to be operational by 2020. Private developers
are being involved to invest and develop, and
bids for sub-projects are open for international
tenders.

[Source – UKABC]

Railway
The Ministry of Transport is carrying out a
feasibility study on the construction of a new
north–south high-speed railway that would
replace the existing century-old line. The new
high-speed railway will serve 200-350 kph
trains. Construction is expected to start in
2020.
Seaport
Vietnam aims to develop six regional port
groups between 2020 and 2030, with 39
ports to be constructed/expanded as part of
their port development strategy.
The total investment for these plans is
expected to be between US $18 billion and
US $23 billion.
Road
73% of the Government’s investment in
transport goes into road development.
Investment from the private sector is much
needed.
Construction
In Vietnam, the hotel, resort and mixed-use
buildings/residential sector is rapidly expanding,
and major local, private developers dominate.
Some UK companies have partnerships with
leading developers, resulting in UK expertise
being used in a number of landmark projects.

Mass transport sector
By 2020, transport infrastructure investment
from the Vietnamese Government will grow
from US $7 billion to US $120 billion. Plans for
infrastructure include:
•

building two new international standard
airports

•

upgrading seven existing airports

•

building six metro operations in Hanoi
and Ho Chi Minh City

UK companies will be able to oﬀer:
•

consulting

•

technology

•

design/construction

•

project management

There is also the opportunity to work in
partnership with leading contractors from
Japan and South Korea.
The airline industry also has potential for UK
companies who could become involved in its
operation.
Contact: DIT.Vietnam@fco.gsi.gov.uk for more
information on mass transport opportunities
in Vietnam.
[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
gov.uk]
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Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

VIETNAM

Vietnam’s large workforce is mainly young and
well educated, with the average age of citizens
being just 30.
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PREPARING TO EXPORT

Preparing to export

Your aims:
• Do you wish to buy from Vietnam, sell to
Vietnam or both?

Consultation and bespoke research
•

Do you wish to establish your own
company presence in Vietnam (for example
a joint venture, a branch oﬃce, an
agency, a representative oﬃce or a
franchise)?

•

Do you need to be involved in Vietnam at
all?

•

Do you see Vietnam as part of a wider
plan including e.g. other Southeast Asian
markets now or in the future?

There is a range of online information for
exporters, including advice and guidance on
how to thoroughly research overseas markets.
Visit: https://www.great.gov.uk/ for more
information.
Researching the Vietnamese market
Vietnamese regions will have diﬀerent industry
clusters and demographics. Therefore, regional
plans and good local research is essential.
Ideally you should make regular visits to
Vietnam as well as making contact with
others in your industry/sector. This will enable
you to access the most up-to-date advice
and information, and may lead to new
insights or at the very least form the
foundation for further research.
Visit: https://www.great.gov.uk for information
and guidance on how to develop your
marketing strategy, competitor and SWOT
analyses and customer/market segmentation.
The IOE&IT can also oﬀer help with this, visit:
https://www.export.org.uk/.
You will need to determine whether there is
a market for your product or service, if your
pricing is competitive, and whether to adapt
your business model.
The questions listed here should help to
focus your thoughts. Your answers to them
will highlight areas for further research and
also suggest a way forward that is right for
your company. You may then want to use
this as a basis for developing a formal
Vietnam strategy, although this may not be
necessary or appropriate for all companies:
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Your company:
• Can you carry out a detailed SWOT
analysis of your company?
•

Are your competitors already in Vietnam?
If so, what are they doing?

•

Can you carry out a detailed SWOT
analysis of your competitors?

•

What are the Unique Selling Points (USPs)
of your product or service?

•

Do you know if there is a market for your
product or service in Vietnam?

•

Do you know if you can be competitive
in Vietnam?

•

Do you have the time and resources
to handle e.g. the demands of
communication, travel, product delivery
and after-sales service?

•

Are there any legal barriers to your
business model?

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

Your knowledge:
• Do you know how to secure payment for
your products or service?
•

Do you know where in Vietnam you
should start?

•

Do you know how to locate and screen
potential partners, agents or distributors?

•

Have you carried out any Vietnam-speciﬁc
customer segmentation, and do you
know how to best reach potential
customers in-market?

•

Have you evaluated business risks (such
as protecting your IP) and conducted
research and due diligence?

It is unlikely that you will have the answers to
all these questions at the outset and these
‘knowledge gaps’ could form the basis for
further research and investigation. Some of
these questions will require quantitative
research in your sector, while others involve
more contextual and cultural considerations.

held in Vietnam each year. The Department
for International Trade (DIT) provides funding
for eligible businesses in the form of grants to
enable them to attend trade shows overseas
via the Tradeshow Access Programme. Visit:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tradeshowaccess-programme for more information.
The funding helps your business to gather
market knowledge, gain experience in
attending and getting the most from overseas
trade shows, and to receive advice and
support from trade experts.
To discover future events and trade missions
in Vietnam, visit the DIT events portal at:
https://www.events.great.gov.uk/ehome/
index.php?eventid=200183029&.
For company launches and events held at
British Embassy and Consulate locations,
contact the DIT team in Vietnam at:
https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations/
department-for-international-trade-vietnam
#contact-us.
[Source – DIT, gov.uk]

Talking to other people in your industry and
regularly visiting Vietnam will give you access
to the most current advice and such experience
can often lead to new insights and form the
basis for further research.
Guidance on developing an export plan,
including marketing strategy, customer
segmentation, competitor and SWOT
analyses, etc. is available on the
https://www.great.gov.uk/ site, and also
on the Open to Export site at: https://
opentoexport.com/info/export-action-plan/.
One option to test how viable your product
or service could be in the Vietnamese market
would be to attend trade shows generally

Start-up considerations
UK companies can use a number of ways to
get started in Vietnam. However, you should
consider using a local presence such as an
agent or distributor to successfully develop
your business. In addition, you will need to
visit the market a number of times to establish
a personal relationship with a business
partner.
British companies can approach the
Vietnamese market in several ways:
•

export directly
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•

set up an agency

•

appoint a distributor

•

open a representative oﬃce

•

open a branch

•

form a joint venture

•

set up a 100% British-owned company

•

enter into a business co-operation
contract

•

enter into a Build-Operate-Transfer
(BOT)-type contract

•

franchising/licensing

Distributorship agreement
When doing business with Vietnam, it may be
more eﬀective to set your business up using
a local agent or distributor as it will save time
and money due to their local knowledge and
contacts. An agent is paid a commission and
will work as a direct representative for your
company within the market. Whereas distributors buy your product from the UK and then
will sell them on in Vietnam for a proﬁt.
Disadvantages can include losing sight and
some control of your company, and you
should make sure you are aware of agents
who are promoting products or services
which are the same or similar to yours.
Make sure you research a number of agents
and distributors before deciding on which is
right for your company.
This research should include a company’s
background (size, sales quality, customer
reviews), who they are distributing to, and
whether they are ultimately right to be selling
or promoting your product.
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You should visit your agent or distributor
regularly and ensure that you work closely
alongside them, in order to reach your
product’s maximum sales potential in Vietnam.
Due diligence
Many problems can occur in Vietnam, but
they can be avoided as long as you carry out
due diligence before exporting. Make sure
you obtain a letter of credit from the bank
before exporting, this will prove a Vietnamese
company’s ability to pay for your products
/services. A company’s ﬁnancial standing
does not need to be checked if a letter of
credit can be obtained.

a company’s account may not be accurate
and they also may not be up to UK standards,
as diﬀerent companies use diﬀerent accounts
depending on their customer base. Always
make sure you check a company’s data from
diﬀerent sources.

You will also need a copy of the company’s
business licence, which includes:

Resident ﬁrms in both Vietnam and the UK
can provide good-quality consultancy and
assistance. These companies can look at the
operation of a business and build up an
accurate picture, carefully interviewing
people who work in and with the ﬁrm in
order to carry out operational, ﬁnancial, legal
and technical due diligence checks. DIT has
lists of consultancies based in the UK and
Vietnam that can provide due diligence
checks on Vietnamese companies.

•

the legal representative

[Source – DIT]

•

contact details

•

registered capital value (limited liability)

•

company type

•

company start date

•

licence period

Legal advice
Getting information in Vietnam can be diﬃcult,
so to avoid costly mistakes you should
consider seeking help and advice from a
local lawyer, as the tax and legal obligations
of each business structure can diﬀer. Updated
lists of English-speaking lawyers in both north
and south Vietnam are available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections
/list-of-lawyers#v.

You should corroborate the information
contained in the business licence against
what you already know and, if there are any
discrepancies, ﬁnd out why. The information
can be externally conﬁrmed through due
diligence done by lawyers, advisory ﬁrms and
consultants. Make sure you ﬁnd out who is
legally responsible, in order to maximise your
security.

The Department for International Trade (DIT)
in Vietnam can assist in locating and meeting
potential agents and distributors. Visit:
http://www.gov.uk/world/organisations/
department-for-international-trade-vietnam
#contact-us for more information.
[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Additional research must be carried out to
help you solidify a business relationship that is
based on more than just exporting. Copies of
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Direct exports and sales
Direct export means supplying your products
/services directly to the customer and involves
you taking care of the logistics of marketing,
selling, sending overseas and getting paid.
However, getting information in Vietnam
can be diﬃcult so it is important to develop
personal relationships – you should have a
local representative acting as an agent,
distributor or wholesaler for you, particularly
as in some instances it will be necessary to
pre-register exporters/producers.
To help you to identify local representatives
in Vietnam, contact a specialist trade adviser at
the Department for International Trade (DIT) at:
https://www.gov.uk/overseas-customersexport-opportunities or the DIT team in
Vietnam at: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-internationaltrade-vietnam#contact-us for further advice
and lists of local agents.
Online selling
The Department for International Trade (DIT)
can help you export your goods to Vietnam
through the E-Exporting Programme. Find out
more at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/
e-exporting.
DIT has also negotiated listings at better-thancommercial rates. See online marketplaces in
Vietnam at: https://www.great.gov.uk/sellingonline-overseas/.
You can ﬁnd out more about the E-regulations
governing Binh Dinh, Da Nang, Hai Duong,
Hanoi, Ho Chi Minh City, Phu Yen and Vinh
Phuc regions via the Ministry of Planning and
Investment E-regulation site at: https://
vietnam.eregulations.org/.
You should also be aware of Vietnam’s new
cyber security law, which came into force on
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1st January 2019. See the section on cyber
security in the ‘What are the challenges?’
chapter for more details.
Franchising
Licensing and franchising are becoming
increasingly popular options in Vietnam. To
conduct business operations in Vietnam it is
important to register with the appropriate
government ministries, depending upon the
nature of your business.
You can ﬁnd out more about licensing and
investment regulations by visiting the Vietnam
Trade Promotion Agency website at:
http://en.vietrade.gov.vn/.
Also visit the international section of the British
Franchise Association at: http://www.thebfa.
org/international for more information on
franchising.
[Source – Vietnam Trade Promotion Agency, British
Franchise Association, DIT, DIT Trade and
Investment guide: Vietnam, gov.uk]

Employing staﬀ
Vietnam’s large workforce is mainly young
and well educated, with the average age of
citizens being just 30.
Since admittance to the World Trade
Organization (WTO), the need for more
skilled workers is greater than ever, although
average wages in Vietnam are still lower than
in neighbouring countries such as Thailand
and China. Remuneration packages are likely
to rise over time due to competition.
Employing foreign workers
There is an entitlement for employers to
recruit foreign workers for jobs that require
specialist expertise which cannot be fulﬁlled by
Vietnamese workers. There must be a training

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

programme in place, however, that equips a
Vietnamese national with the necessary skills
to eventually replace the foreign worker.
A work permit must be obtained by foreign
workers from the local Labour Department.
Permits can take a while to arrange, so ensure
you allow ample time. Foreigners, in certain
circumstances, do not have to apply for a
work permit, such as when providing shortterm technical assistance, but companies are
advised to check this as other documentation
may be required.
Recruitment channels
Labour can be recruited either by the
employer directly or with the help of an
employment service agency. Companies
must enter into labour contracts with their
employees, either for a deﬁnite or an indeﬁnite
term. Deﬁnite term contracts can only be
renewed three times before they automatically
become indeﬁnite term.
Multiple channels are available when
recruiting staﬀ in Vietnam, including:
•

online services for job adverts such as:
www.vietnamworks.com

•

classiﬁed adverts (in French) for jobs are
available from the local Vietnamese daily
newspaper, Le Courrier du Vietnam and
in Vietnamese from Nhan Dan (the
Communist Party Newspaper) and Quan
Doi Nhan Dan (Vietnam People’s Army
Newspaper)

•

classiﬁed ads for jobs in English are
available from the Vietnam Economic
Times and Viet Nam News (state-run)

•

trade journals for key industry sectors –
talk to the DIT teams in Vietnam for more
information

•

recruitment services companies – there
are several experienced domestic and
international recruitment services
operating in Hanoi and Ho Chi Minh City

(Source – DIT]

Recruitment process
When recruiting in Vietnam, be certain to
carry out the same steps that you would take
if recruiting in the UK. A probationary period
can be decided upon between employers
and employees, although this must not
exceed 60 days for specialist work, and must
be less than 30 days for all other work. Make
sure you pay a probationary employee at
least 70% of the job’s normal wage.
Carry out due diligence before oﬀering a
position, including undertaking personal
background checks and checking all
references.
Oﬀer appropriate remuneration
Adequate remuneration must be provided in
order to recruit and retain the highest-level
employees. In 2017, mid-level oﬃce
managers in major cities such as Ho Chi Minh
City earned on average US $800-$1,200 per
month. You should consult DIT in Vietnam
for the most recent ﬁgures, however, as
salaries are currently rising.
The former Vietnamese Prime Minister,
Mr. Nguyen Tan Dung, decreed a minimum
salary increase for workers employed in
Foreign-Invested Enterprises (FIEs) which
raised minimum salaries in all three labour
zones for unskilled and manual labourers in
FIEs. Talk to DIT representatives in Vietnam
for advice on speciﬁc positions and locations,
and current salaries.
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Overseas training and career progression
The opportunity to train overseas can be
attractive to employees, but make sure when
oﬀering this training, your employees have
committed to a speciﬁc period of time to stay
with your company. Clearly deﬁned career
progression routes are also attractive to
employees, which will help you to recruit
and retain high-quality staﬀ. Whilst Vietnam’s
professional qualiﬁcations are not up to the
same standards as those in the UK, some
foreign companies will oﬀer certain
international qualiﬁcations such as ACCA,
ICAEW, City & Guilds or CIMA.
It is possible that smaller companies setting
up in Vietnam will only employ one individual
to deal with all the elements pertaining to
running the company. This may appear to be
cost-eﬀective and convenient, however, it is
not necessarily recommended. If the
employee is not experienced in the rules
and regulations surrounding running an
international oﬃce in Vietnam then you may
run into non-compliance issues. The end
result could be very costly for your business.
It is also an obvious risk to rely on one person
for all the ﬁnancial and legal aspects of your
business.
Social security
Vietnamese social security regulations can be
complex, so you should double-check the
latest rates.
Establishing a permanent presence
There are many beneﬁts to having an in-market
presence in Vietnam, including cutting out
the ‘middleman’, showing your commitment
to the country, providing direct access to the
end-customer or supplier, enabling trade in
the local currency, giving direct control over
corporate strategy and activities, making the
conduct of business transactions much
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easier, and – for some sectors and activities –
fulﬁlling a legal requirement to have a
permanent presence.
[Source – DIT]

Financial considerations
The local currency is the Vietnamese Dong
(VND).
It is illegal to change money anywhere other
than at oﬃcial money exchange counters,
where there will be clear signs showing this
status.
ATMs are widely available in major cities and
tourist areas, however, make sure you have
cash as a backup in rural areas.
You can have funds transferred to Vietnam via
international money transfer companies such
as Western Union, MoneyGram or World
Remit.
Getting ﬁnance to fulﬁl an export contract
Globally, Vietnam ranks 25th out of 190
economies for Ease of Getting Credit, in the
World Bank’s Doing Business report 2020.
See: http://www.doingbusiness.org/en/data/
exploreeconomies/vietnam.
For UK companies that wish to sell products
and services to Vietnam, there are schemes
available to simplify the growth of your
business and to fulﬁl an export contract.
Contact your bank or ﬁnancial adviser for
more information about any current
schemes.
Getting paid
A popular payment method for the import of
goods is by a letter of credit. However, letters

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

of credit are not always seen by Vietnamese
banks as conﬁrming an irrevocable commitment on their part. Ensure you seek a letter of
credit opened by a foreign bank with a branch
in Vietnam. Arrangements can sometimes be
made between the beneﬁciary overseas and
their banks (‘silent conﬁrmations’) at a cost.
Payment risks
UKEF helps UK companies to get paid by
insuring against buyer default.
You may have diﬃculty accessing foreign
exchange. Be conﬁdent you will get paid for
your export contract. Speak to one of UKEF’s
export ﬁnance advisers at: https://www.
gov.uk/government/publications/ﬁnd-anexport-ﬁnance-manager for free and
impartial advice on your insurance options,
or contact one of UKEF’s approved export
insurance brokers at: https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/uk-export-ﬁnanceinsurance-list-of-approved-brokers/exportinsurance-approved-brokers.

•

needed for payment for goods and
services by an importer with an import
licence and other supporting import
documents (for example purchase
contract, invoice, customs declaration
form)

•

remittance of dividends has been cleared
by Vietnamese tax authorities

•

repaying foreign loans and interest

•

paying salaries, bonuses and allowances
to expatriate employees

[Source – UKEF, DIT Trade and Investment guide:
Vietnam, gov.uk]

Transferring money
The State Bank of Vietnam (SBV) imposes
strict controls on foreign exchange
transactions. See: https://www.sbv.gov.vn/
webcenter/portal/vi/menu.
You must get foreign currency convertibility
rights from SBV as early as possible.
Convertibility rights are normally part of the
investment licence so are given to companies
operating in speciﬁc import-substitute and
other ‘important’ industries. Convertibility
rights do not guarantee availability of foreign
exchange.
Foreign currency is allowed out of Vietnam
only when:
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BEATING THE TECH TALENT CRUNCH
VIETNAM AS A DESTINATION OF CHOICE

NashTech, part of Harvey Nash Group,
is a global technology solutions
provider, having established itself as a
leader in an increasingly competitive
market, working with international
businesses and brands.
Through
its
growth
strategy,
1DVK7HFK LGHQWLȴHG WKH QHHG WR
expand its technical capabilities
to meet the growing demands and
complex requirements of its clients.
In 2000 NashTech took the strategic
decision to establish its IT centre of
excellence in Hanoi, Vietnam.

WHY VIETNAM
Strong emerging market
Political stability
Young, energetic workforce
Strong IT capability
6WURQJFXOWXUDOȴW

MUTUALLY BENEFICIAL

DOING BUSINESS IN VIETNAM

NashTech has continued to invest in its
Vietnam operations, establishing a presence
in Ho Chi Minh City in 2007. The company’s
commitment to the region has resulted in
VHYHUDOEHQHȴWVIRUERWKWKHFRPSDQ\DQGWKH
local economy.

As a global business, working with some of
the world’s best-known brands, NashTech has
helped shine a light on Vietnam as a viable
region to establish operations.

Perhaps the most tangible impact, has been
job creation. The Vietnamese operations are
managed by Vietnamese nationals and they
now employ more than 2000 professionals
across a variety of technology specialisms,
including:
•

Data science

•

.NET development

•

DevOps

•

Java / LAMP Development

•

Quality Control / Automation Testing

At a time when organisations across
the Western World are experiencing an
unprecedented tech talent crunch, Vietnam’s
well-educated, young population combined
with the country’s continued technology
boom has provided NashTech with a virtually
limitless skilled and ambitious workforce.
Recent reports suggest the trend is set to
continue. According to the Vietnam Software
and IT Services Association (VINASA), IT has
grown by 30 percent in the past year.
*RYHUQPHQWDOHRUWVPXVWEHDFNQRZOHGJHG
for the country’s boom, which has seen GDP
rise by a dizzying 3,303 percent since 1990.
In addition to its strategic commitment to
educating the population, a strong emphasis
has been placed on supporting international
companies investing in Vietnam, particularly
those in the ICT sector. The meteoric
rise of the technology sector has led to a
thriving technology ecosystem, further
bolstering NashTech’s innovative, solutions
IRFXVHGRHULQJ

Setting up and growing a successful
business in Vietnam is not administratively
GLɝFXOW 7KH ORFDO UHJXODWRUV DQG RɝFLDOV
are accommodating and familiar with
international investors.
With one of the best employee retention
levels in Asia, NashTech’s talents are
continually expanding their experience and
skillsets, applying their learnings from various
industries to provide clients with unique,
innovative solutions to their challenges.

THE OPEN UNIVERSITY
A digital disrupter that operates at scale

The Open University radically challenged the established higher education
sector in the UK, when it was founded 50 years ago. Its founding principles
of education being ‘open to all’ underpins everything it does and the launch
of its free, informal learning platform OpenLearn, in 1999, was testament
to this.
OpenLearn attracts 6 million learners a year and recently celebrated 60
million visitors to the website. It hosts 1,000 free courses – more than
11,000 hours of learning content (video and audio, interactive activities
and articles). Operating at a such scale presented unique IT challenges that
QHHGHGWREHDGGUHVVHGWRLPSURYHHɝFLHQF\DQGXVHUH[SHULHQFHQDPHO\
mobile compatibility, security, loading time and business continuity.

THE CHALLENGE
Due to the growth of the platform and
technological advances The Open University
had employed several suppliers to support
the development of the website. The result
was a lack of consistency in processes, coding
and recording of site development.

The other major challenge was how to address
these challenges and implement the changes
needed while avoiding user disruption and
keeping site downtime had to be kept to
a minimum.

THE SOLUTION

THE OUTCOME

In 2016, The Open University appointed
NashTech with the objective of:

NashTech has continued to work with The
Open University, continually improving
the security and user experience of the
OpenLearn platform.

1

Developing a user-friendly,
easily navigable site structure

2

Optimising the platform for use
on mobile devices

3

Addressing security and
code quality

It was imperative to establish clear lines of
communications between the NashTech
team in Vietnam and The Open University’s
product owners. A NashTech on-site manager
was embedded at The Open University,
WRJHWKHU ZLWK D %XVLQHVV $QDO\VW ȵXHQW
in English. This also helped maintain the
alignment of organisational priorities, culture
and development processes.
NashTech’s software development experts
worked closely with The Open University’s
internal stakeholders, taking the design
and functional requirements to create a
framework based on the project’s priorities
and the phased implementation plan to limit
downtime (this process took six months). With
KLJKWUDɝFSULRULW\SDJHVDQGQHZQDYLJDWLRQ
in place, the next step was to optimise all
other pages on the site.
$QDGGHGEHQHȴWWRWKHJHRJUDSKLFDOORFDWLRQ
of The Open University and NashTech was that
the site development was able to take place
RXWVLGHRIWKHKLJKWUDɝFWLPHVLHRYHUQLJKWLQ
the UK, meaning most of the website updates
were performed with minimal disruption.

*HWLQWRXFKWRȴQGRXWKRZZHFDQ
help your company scale its IT and
deliver business success:
 info@nashtechglobal.com
 www.nashtechglobal.com

“NashTech has worked with
the OpenLearn team at The
Open University to relaunch
www.OpenLearn.com in 2017.
The company currently provides
IT development for the site,
which hosts over 15,000 free
courses, videos and educational
interactives and which reaches
over 8.5m people a year.
NashTech’s
involvement
has
been critical to delivering robust
development deploys for the last
WZR\HDUVLWVRVKRUHWHDPJRLQJ
the extra mile when needed. They
are the hidden, but vital, element
to a smooth-running platform
that showcases the very best
of Open University teaching to
the world.”
— Dr. Patrina Law
Head of Open Learn, Open University

VIETNAM

It takes between six to eight weeks to ship goods
by sea to Vietnam from the UK. Vietnam has a
number of seaports, around 14 of which are
relatively large and important to the country’s
economic development.
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HOW TO DO BUSINESS WITH VIETNAM

How to do business with Vietnam

consumer rights, particularly when you sell
at a distance (without meeting the customer
face-to-face).

Legal considerations
Due to entering international free trade
agreements, Vietnam has reformed its
domestic legislation, although inconsistencies
still occur. Depending on how and where
your business operates, and how you invest
funds, diﬀerent levels of authority or legislation
may apply.
Standards and technical regulations
The responsibility for ensuring that products
meet relevant safety standards lies with
suppliers and manufacturers who must label
their products clearly to provide instructions
regarding proper use and warnings against
misuse.
Vietnam’s standards and technical regulations
are in line with international ones. Exemption
and simpliﬁcation can only be applied if there
is a mutual agreement between both countries.
Make sure you obtain the required technical
licences before you export, be aware that this
could take some time.
The Directorate for Standards, Metrology
and Quality of Viet Nam (STAMEQ) is a
governmental agency under the Ministry
of Science and Technology (MOST) with
responsibility for standards and quality in
Vietnam. See: https://tcvn.gov.vn/?lang=en.
Law on marketing and selling in Vietnam
If you are selling to consumers (rather than
businesses) you will need to comply with
Vietnam’s consumer protection laws.
Customers in Vietnam have various
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It is important to note that advertising in
Vietnam as a foreign ﬁrm is heavily regulated
too, and it is advisable to partner with a local
advertising organisation if you wish to
advertise.
The Directorate for Standards, Metrology and
Quality of Viet Nam (STAMEQ) has responsibility
for enforcing quality standards to meet
consumer safety standards.
The Vietnam Competition Authority provides
useful information at: http://www.vca.gov.vn/
Default.aspx?CateID=185 regarding consumer
rights, and the Vietnam Investment and Trade
Promotion Centre (ITPC) has details of
current legislation governing consumer rights
in Vietnam, at: http://www.itpc.gov.vn/.
Product liability insurance
Product liability insurance covers the cost of
compensation for anyone injured by a faulty
product. If you design, manufacture or supply
a physical product that is sold or given away
for free, you should therefore consider taking
out product liability insurance.
See the Association of British Insurers (ABI)
website at: https://www.abi.org.uk/productsand-issues/choosing-the-right-insurance/
business-insurance/liability-insurance/product
-liability-insurance/ for further information, or
alternatively, contact the DIT team in Vietnam
at: http://www.gov.uk/world/organisations/
department-for-international-trade-vietnam
#contact-us for contacts of local insurers or
specialist brokers.

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

Professional indemnity insurance
You may require professional indemnity
insurance if you provide a service and need to
protect yourself against negligence claims
from clients or third parties in Vietnam.
See the Association of British Insurers (ABI)
website at: https://www.abi.org.uk/productsand-issues/choosing-the-right-insurance/
business-insurance/liability-insurance/
professional-indemnity-insurance/ for further
information, or alternatively contact the DIT
team in Vietnam at: http://www.gov.uk/
world/organisations/department-forinternational-trade-vietnam#contact-us for
further advice, and for contacts of local
insurers or specialist brokers if appropriate.
Labelling your products
Label all goods sold in Vietnam in
Vietnamese and make sure you provide the
following information:
•

registered trademark

•

product name

•

address of the manufacturer, importer or
re-packer in Vietnam

•

active ingredients

•

net quantity of contents

•

registered business name

•

business address of origin

•

symbols consistent with the nature of
goods

•

product contents

Display all weights, measures and volumes
in metric units.
It is also important to provide a certiﬁcate of
origin on your products. More information
on this is available at the Vietnam Trade
Promotions Agency (Vietrade). See:
http://en.vietrade.gov.vn/.
In Vietnam, there can be short notice
changes to regulations that govern product
labelling, so ensure you keep up to date by
checking with Vietrade or with the DIT team
in Vietnam at: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-internationaltrade-vietnam#contact-us for further detailed
information and advice on labelling
requirements.
[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Taxation
Double taxation agreement
The UK and Vietnam have signed a double
taxation agreement, which allows some taxes
paid in one country to be deducted in the
other, so should prevent any double tax liability
from UK and Vietnamese authorities over the
same income. See: https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/vietnam-taxtreaties.
Vietnam’s General Department of Taxation at
the Ministry of Finance is responsible for tax
matters. See: http://gdt.gov.vn/wps/portal/
english for details.
Corporate income tax (CIT)
Enterprises are subject to tax rates under the
CIT Law and the standard CIT rate is 20%.
Higher CIT rates apply to businesses
operating in certain sectors.
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Tax incentives are granted to businesses
investing in certain:

Other taxes
Other taxes include:

•

priority sectors

•

foreign contractor tax

•

speciﬁc locations

•

natural resources tax

•

large projects

•

environment protection tax

Value added tax (VAT)
VAT applies on the duty-paid value of
imported goods. VAT must be paid to
customs authorities by the importer at the
same time as import duties. Diﬀerent goods
and services have diﬀerent VAT rates.
Generally, the rate is up to 10%.
The Vietnam Trade Promotion Agency
provides up-to-date information on VAT
regulations and products exempt from/
subject to tax. See: http://en.vietrade.gov.vn/
for further details.
You can ﬁnd more information on VAT in
non-EU markets at: https://www.gov.uk/
guidance/vat-exports-dispatches-andsupplying-goods-abroad.
Special Sales Tax (SST)
Special Sales Tax (SST) is applied to the
production and import of certain items such
as:
•

cigarettes

•

liquor and beer

•

most vehicles

•

services such as casinos, gambling,
lotteries, golf clubs

You should check you have paid excise duty
on any alcohol, alcoholic drinks or tobacco
products you send to Vietnam.
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As a member of the ASEAN free trade
agreement, imports from other ASEAN states
and China are subject to discounted special
preferential tax rates. More information is
available via the Vietnam Trade Promotions
Agency at: http://en.vietrade.gov.vn/.
[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
Vietrade, gov.uk]

Customs and documentation
Vietnam’s General Department of Customs
at: https://www.customs.gov.vn/home.aspx?
language=en-US is responsible for customs
matters and provides information on tariﬀs,
and more information is available on the EU’s
Market Access Database at: https://madb.
europa.eu/madb/.
Frequent changes can aﬀect import duties.
Diﬀerent trade agreements determine the
applied rates. Contact the Department for
International Trade (DIT) team in Vietnam at:
https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations/
department-for-international-trade-vietnam
#contact-us to ﬁnd out the rates that apply to
your products and services.
Vietnam maintains a price reference database
to avoid under-invoicing, which can impact
customs valuation. See: https://www.customs
.gov.vn/home.aspx?language=en-US for
more information. You can look up your
products by the four initial numbers of your
Harmonised System (HS) codes (see:

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

http://www.wcoomd.org/en/topics/
nomenclature/overview/what-is-theharmonized-system.aspx).

Commodity codes and other details applying
to exports in the UK Trade Tariﬀ can be found
at: https://www.gov.uk/trade-tariﬀ.

More information about import tariﬀs is
available in the EU’s Market Access Database
at: https://madb.europa.eu/madb/.

Contact the HMRC Tariﬀ Classiﬁcation Service
at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ﬁndingcommodity-codes-for-imports-or-exports
#list-of-useful-contacts for more help.

Documentation
You should check with your local representative in Vietnam, who will be able to help you
with the documentation needed to import
your goods.
Vietnam’s General Department of Customs
at: https://www.customs.gov.vn/home.aspx?
language=en-US provides a comprehensive
list of the latest documents you will need. In
addition, you can contact the DIT team in
Vietnam at: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-internationaltrade-vietnam#contact-us for up-to-date
information on the latest customs
procedures.
[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

The EU’s Market Access Database (MADB)
also has details about import tariﬀs. Visit:
http://madb.europa.eu/madb/indexPubli.htm.
You must declare any goods that you take
with you in your luggage to sell outside the
EU. See: https://www.gov.uk/take-goods-sellabroad for further information.
Temporary export of goods
Vietnam does not recognise the ATA (Admission
Temporaire/Temporary Admission) Carnet
system. You therefore need to use a duplicate
list to temporarily export goods to Vietnam.
As with an ATA Carnet, you do not have to
pay customs duty or tax. There is no fee. See:
https://www.gov.uk/taking-goods-out-uktemporarily/duplicate-list.

Complying with HMRC regulations to
export
To export your goods to Vietnam you must
make export declarations to HMRC through
the National Export System (NES). Visit:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/exportdeclarations-and-the-national-exportsystem-export-procedures for further details.

Before you export the goods, prepare a list on
company stationery. Including:

You can ﬁnd out how to declare your exports
to Vietnam through the NES at: https://
www.gov.uk/guidance/export-declarationsand-the-national-export-system-exportprocedures. You must classify your goods
as part of the declaration, including a
commodity code and a customs procedure
code (CPC).

•

a description of the goods

•

how many there are

•

serial numbers, if the goods have them

•

value of the goods

At customs, you will need to provide:
•

two copies of the list

•

a completed HMRC form C&E 1246. See:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads
/system/uploads/attachment_data/ﬁle/
374161/ce1246.pdf (PDF, 638 KB)
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Contact the HMRC Imports and Exports
Helpline in advance to make the
arrangements:
•

Telephone: 0300 200 3700

•

Textphone: 0300 200 3719

•

Outside the UK: +44 29 2050 1261

•

Monday to Friday, 8am to 6pm

Visit: https://www.gov.uk/taking-goods-outuk-temporarily for further information.
To apply for a temporary export licence
you will need to use the SPIRE system at:
https://www.spire.trade.gov.uk/spire/fox/
espire/LOGIN/login.
Export licences for Vietnam
You must have a licence to supply any items
to Vietnam which are on the UK Strategic
Export Control lists.
You can ﬁnd out more about the lists,
whether you might need a licence – and if
so, how to obtain one – at: https://www.gov.
uk/guidance/beginners-guide-to-exportcontrols.
You can also ﬁnd out more general
information on which products will need
certiﬁcation or licensing before they can be
exported to Vietnam, at: https://www.gov.uk/
starting-to-export/licences.
Import requirements/documentation
You may choose to work with a Vietnamese
customs agent. Contact the DIT team in
Vietnam at: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-internationaltrade-vietnam#contact-us for further advice
and lists of local agents.

Shipping your goods
You can use a freight forwarder to move your
goods if you are not knowledgeable about
international shipping procedures. A freight
forwarder will have vast expertise and familiarity
with local documentation requirements,
regulations, transportation costs and banking
practices in Vietnam.
The British International Freight Association
(BIFA) at: http://www.bifa.org/home and the
Freight Transport Association (FTA) at:
http://www.fta.co.uk/ can assist in locating
freight forwarders to transport your goods to
Vietnam.
Sea freight
It takes between six to eight weeks to ship
goods by sea to Vietnam from the UK. Vietnam
has a number of seaports, around 14 of
which are relatively large and important to the
country’s economic development. The three
largest ports include Saigon, Hao Phong and
Da Nang, although these seaports have a
smaller capacity to those in neighbouring
countries, in terms of ship handling and
storage size.
In recent years, a programme of redevelopment
was undertaken, that included the relocation
of Saigon Port to Cat Lai and Hiep Phuoc.
Vung Tau Port in southern Vietnam is also
under development. These projects aid
overseas companies by making sea freight to
Vietnam easier and more cost eﬀective.
Air freight
Vietnam’s largest international airport is Ho
Chi Minh City’s Tan Son Nhat International
Airport. The airport serves both Ho Chi Minh
City and Dong Nam Bo in southern Vietnam.
It handles roughly around 15-17 million
passengers a year and 444,223 tonnes of air
freight.

[Source – DIT, gov.uk]

There are also international airports at Noi Bai
near Hanoi and Da Nang in central Vietnam.
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Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

Vietnam plans to build a new US $16 billion
airport, Long Thanh International Airport in
Long Thanh county, Dong Nai province,
about 50 km northeast of Ho Chi Minh City.
Long Thanh is to be built in three phases over
three decades, to reach a targeted annual
capacity of 100 million passengers and ﬁve
billion tonnes of goods. Stage one, running
from 2018 to 2025, will cost US $5.4 billion
and on completion, will handle 25 million
passengers and 1.2 billion tonnes of goods
a year.

Incoterms are a series of widely-used
commercial terms for international trade in
goods, which clarify for example:
•

where the goods will be delivered

•

who arranges transport

•

who handles customs procedures

•

who is responsible for insuring the goods,
and who pays for insurance

[Source – DIT]

•

who pays any duties and taxes

Posting goods
For information about sending goods by post
to Vietnam visit Royal Mail at: http://www.
royalmail.com/viet-nam.

Incoterms do not apply to the delivery of
services. Contracts for the international delivery
of services should include a Service Level
Agreement (SLA), focusing on desired
outcomes such as what the service should
achieve.

The Vietnamese postal service provider is
Vietnam Posts and Telecommunications
Group (VNPT). See: https://vnpt.com.vn/ for
further details.
Shipping restricted, banned and dangerous
goods
Certain goods are classed as restricted or
dangerous. If you wish to import any of these
goods into Vietnam, they are subject to
special rules. For more information visit:
https://www.gov.uk/shipping-dangerousgoods/what-are-dangerous-goods.
You can employ a local agent who will have
knowledge of the latest import licensing
requirements. For information and assistance
contact the Department for International
Trade (DIT) team in Vietnam at:
https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations/
department-for-international-trade-vietnam
#contact-us.
Terms of delivery
You should have a clear written contract in all
international commercial transactions, to
minimise any risk of misunderstanding.

International trade rules changed in September
2019, so you should check with the
International Chamber of Commerce (ICC),
which publishes Incoterm rules, at: https://
iccwbo.org/resources-for-business/
incoterms-rules, for details of the new rules,
and also with the UK Government for further
general advice and details about current
Incoterms at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/
international-trade-paperwork-the-basics#
international-trade-contracts-and-incoterms.
UK Export Finance
The UK Government can provide ﬁnance or
credit insurance speciﬁcally to support UK
exports through UK Export Finance (UKEF) –
the UK’s export credit agency. See: https://
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/
uk-export-ﬁnance.
For up-to-date country-speciﬁc information
on the support available see UKEF’s cover
policy and indicators for Vietnam at:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/country-coverpolicy-and-indicators#vietnam.
[Source – Royal Mail, VNPT, DIT, UKEF, gov.uk]
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Vietnamese women selling fruits on floating market, Mekong River Delta, Vietnam

VIETNAM

In Vietnamese culture, status is of great
importance and is gained with age and
education. The Vietnamese expect supervisors
and work colleagues to all be treated with the
appropriate respect. Titles are also particularly
meaningful.

80

BUSINESS ETIQUETTE, LANGUAGE & CULTURE

Business etiquette, language & culture

Language
Although some Vietnamese speak French,
English, Chinese or Khmer as a second
language, the oﬃcial language of Vietnam
is Vietnamese, and is spoken in business
transactions and day-to-day meetings. It is
therefore important to hire an interpreter.
Interpreters
It helps to have a working knowledge of
Vietnamese. If not, you should consider hiring
a professional interpreter for your meetings.
Your interpreter is one of your key assets, so
needs to be chosen carefully.
It is recommended that you use a
professional interpreter for negotiations and
avoid using electronic translation for your
correspondence. Initial written approaches
to Vietnamese companies should be in both
Vietnamese as well as English, and your
literature and business cards should be
translated too.
Lists of potential interpreters and translators
in Ho Chi Minh City can be found at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications
/list-of-interpretation-and-translationcompanies-in-hochiminh-city. Alternatively,
you can check with the DIT team in Hanoi
or Ho Chi Minh City at: https://www.gov.uk/
world/organisations/department-forinternational-trade-vietnam#contact-us.

Religion
Vietnam’s national religion is Buddhism.
Religious activities are tolerated in Vietnam,
unless they interfere with the government’s
political agenda. The predominant religion
in Vietnam combines elements of ancient
animistic beliefs with Confucianism, Taoism
and Mahayana Buddhism.
Mass is held in two languages in Catholic
cathedrals across the major Vietnamese
cities.
Protestants, Hindus and Muslims will ﬁnd that,
in cities such as Ho Chi Minh City, there are
places for them to worship.

Cultural considerations
If you intend to conduct business with Vietnam,
you should be aware of the ways in which its
culture diﬀers from that of the UK. As members
of a collectivist society, the Vietnamese often
prioritise the needs of the group over those
of the individual; so, the welfare of family
or the community will be favoured over
business or individual concerns.
It is also very important to ‘save face’ in
Vietnamese culture. This often involves
avoiding confrontation and telling others
what they want to hear, rather than directly
and publicly tackling issues. Criticising
someone in public or failing to keep promises
are examples of ways in which it is possible
to lose face in Vietnamese society. It is,
therefore, important that you act with
integrity when doing business with Vietnam.
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Attire
For meetings, a shirt and tie is suitable, though
men may wish to wear a jacket for more formal
events. Women often wear more formal
business wear, covering the shoulders.

Greetings
In Vietnam, greeting people by shaking both
hands, maintaining direct eye-contact and
bowing your head a little is common in
business environments. You should bow your
head to demonstrate respect to older members
of society, or if a handshake is not oﬀered.
Handshakes are typically only exchanged
between members of the same sex, and should
also be oﬀered upon leaving.
Body language
In Vietnam, you should not cross your arms
or stand with your hands on your hips. You
should also use your whole hand, instead of
one ﬁnger, to point.
Business cards
Many people in Vietnam speak English,
however, you should print your business
cards in both English and Vietnamese. Oﬀer
the card to the most senior person ﬁrst and,
if it is the ﬁrst time, present it with both hands,
with the Vietnamese side upwards.
Formality
Before conducting business, you should take
the time to get to know your Vietnamese
counterparts as they can often be suspicious
of those with whom they are not familiar. As
a result, it can take time to develop business
relationships in Vietnam and they are often
fairly formal.
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Hierarchy
Typically, Vietnamese business organisations
are hierarchical. Decisions and ideas come
from the top, down, and often the eldest
member inﬂuences decision making.
Respecting senior individuals — whether that
be determined by age, job, position within
the business or level of education — is vital in
Vietnam. In business meetings, it tends to be
that the eldest member of the group enters
the room before anyone else.
Titles
In Vietnamese culture, status is of great
importance and is gained with age and
education. The Vietnamese expect supervisors
and work colleagues to all be treated with the
appropriate respect. Titles are also particularly
meaningful.
It is important that you address potential
business partners correctly – if they have a
Vietnamese name this means starting with
the surname, followed by middle name and
then the ﬁrst name. When referring to one
another, Vietnamese people will use the
appropriate title followed by the ﬁrst name,
as opposed to the surname, e.g. Mr. Nguyen
Nam Thuy would be Mr. Thuy.

Women in business
In the major urban areas of Vietnam, such
as Hanoi and Ho Chi Minh City, women are
considered equals and thus receive similar
salaries to men. However, in more conservative,
rural areas this is not often the case.
The business environment in Vietnam tends
to be dominated by men, although this is

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

now beginning to change. Currently, however,
working women in Vietnam generally undertake administrative roles, and act as assistants
or secretaries. Vietnamese men are used to
working with foreign women who occupy
more senior roles, and therefore will treat
them equally.

Meetings
In Vietnam, meetings are vital to the business
process. Face-to-face encounters are
preferred by the Vietnamese, who are less
dependent on emails than Western business
people. Typically, appointments will not be
committed to very far in advance, and some
high-ranking oﬃcials may not even conﬁrm
their attendance until one or two days prior
to a meeting — sometimes waiting until the
day itself.
Meetings tend to run over, so you should
ensure that you have accounted for this in
your schedule. Introductions and small talk
about topics such as family and sport are
important to the Vietnamese, and such
discussions can help them relax, ultimately
increasing their conﬁdence in you. On the
other hand, loud voices and excessive hand
gestures can be considered rude.

and you cannot avoid running late, it is
important that you inform your host as soon
as possible.
Negotiations
As there can be much to do, negotiations
in Vietnam can be drawn out. Do not let prolonged silences put you oﬀ, Vietnamese
people typically take some time to respond.
You should, however, consider that this silence
may be your Vietnamese counterpart’s attempt
to save face if there is a disagreement. Any
agreements that have been made in a business
meeting should be immediately written up to
avoid any misunderstanding.
Gift giving
It is common to give gifts, such as fruit or
flowers, in Vietnam as a token of appreciation.
They need not be expensive, and the gesture
alone will be valued.
Respect for your host
The importance of status and reputation in
Vietnam means that it is necessary to avoid
outwardly criticising others, and causing loss
of face for both parties. All food and drink
oﬀered to you should be accepted in order
to demonstrate respect.

You should be careful not to assume that
smiling and nodding in response to your
proposal is a yes as there are some cultural
diﬀerences when doing business with Vietnam.
Punctuality
In Vietnam, being late is perceived as rude
and so you should ensure that you arrive at
meetings at the agreed upon time. If it is not
possible for you to make a meeting on time,
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> Clear, consistent content is vital to
making your business understood
overseas. So don't leave it to chance.

> Well-known companies we already work
with include: Serco, Experian, Intertek, IKEA
and Caterpillar
> For a structured approach to translation,
please read the article that follows

T: 0115 9705633 | E: office@astls.co.uk | www.astlanguage.com

If you're reading this guide, the chances are you're either a seasoned exporter,
or you're committed to investigating new export opportunities for your business.
Whichever category you fall into, you'll have a good idea of the huge investment
in time, effort and resources which is required for export success.

Your priority will be to get your product or service to market, and it's a fact of life
that procurement of peripheral resources such as translation is often left to the
last minute. In this article we'd like to demonstrate to you how building translation
into the early planning stages of your export campaigns can pay dividends.

The internet, mobile connectivity and social media mean that now more than ever
before customers, be they B2B or B2C, are buying goods and services within the
context of a connected world of instant communication.
Buying decisions carried out in
isolation of wider and constantly
changing sector, economic or
social contexts are a thing of the
past. This means that increasingly
any product or service has to be
supported with professional
technical, marketing or other
contextual content.

As examples of this, exporters
need their technical documentation
to be easily assimilated, their marketing
content to be compelling, and their
website to be informative and
memorable. Human resources
departments on the other hand need
sensitive localisation of policies &
procedures in line with local legislation,
corporate guidelines and house style.
After all an international expansion
strategy or company restructuring
could easily be undermined by
insensitive internal communication.

In non English-speaking markets,
all of the above can be achieved by
working with a reliable and
professional translation partner.
So how can really good translation
help build your export success:
•

•

•

•

clear and accurate foreignlanguage branding and
content will motivate foreign
customers to buy from you

consistent and harmonised
messaging helps to convey and
reinforce your company's values
and ethos
corporate and operational
risk through poor quality
communication and
misunderstanding is eliminated
overall brand integrity and
reputation are enhanced

The following components are key to
a successful translation project, and
show how AST can make the process
of internationalising outward-facing
and internal communications simpler,
more professional and more costeffective:
Rigorous selection of translators

AST’s ISO9001 certified and
ISO17100 compliant processes
mean that the company has
approved sector-specialist translators
whatever the language and deadline
requirements, with experienced
proofreaders to give the text
precision and professionalism to
really focus the reader’s attention.
Translation memory technology

Client-facing documents produced
periodically often contain sections
which stay the same and sections
which need updating. Similarly
company websites and technical
data or manuals can contain identical
paragraphs and sections. Translation
Memory technology is used in this
situation to identify duplicate and
legacy text. The duplicates are
logged and reused – leading to
reduced turnaround times and
resulting

cost savings – with company
wordings for products, processes,
titles and descriptions translated
consistently.
Terminology management

The key words used to describe your
company’s products, services and
processes support your brand and
identity. This is equally true in your
foreign language communications.
Unfortunately, once translated it
is often easy to lose control of key
terms, leading to uncertainty as
to whether the translations are
having the desired impact. AST’s
terminology management prevents
this. Glossaries are maintained in
multiple languages and client
terminology is checked in each
language by industry sector experts.
As the glossary grows it can be
reused with each new project, so
client content is always on-message
and brand integrity consistent.

So there’s really no need for you to
leave the “softer” aspects of your
export campaign to chance. Using a
professional translation company like
AST provides a guarantee that your
international content will be clear,
consistent and effective. Whatever
the language.

> YOU NEED YOUR SALES,
TECHNICAL AND WEBSITE CONTENT
TO BE TRANSLATED BY EXPERTS!

> We’re recognised as a UK leader for translating high profile,
client-facing documents

> All our translators are rigorously selected so your text will be
translated by the best people in the business

> We ensure you get premium quality translations every time,
on time and within budget

No matter how urgent your assignment we can translate it.

T: 0115 9705633 | E: office@astls.co.uk | www.astlanguage.com

VIETNAM

Vietnam’s new law on cyber security came
into force on 1st January 2019, introducing
requirements on data localisation, business
presence and user information storage and
authentication.

Terraced rice field in Mu Cang Chai, Vietnam
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WHAT ARE THE CHAllENGES?

What are the challenges?

Challenges and risks when doing
business with Vietnam
Vietnam is ranked 70th out of 190 countries
in the World Bank’s 2020 Ease of Doing
Business Index (the UK ranks 8th):
http://www.doingbusiness.org/en/data/
exploreeconomies/vietnam.
The main challenges of doing business with
Vietnam are:
•

corruption

•

bureaucracy

•

grey areas of Vietnamese law

•

lack of Intellectual Property Rights (IPR)
enforcement

•

inadequate infrastructure

•

lack of skills

•

language barrier (so translators and
interpreters are often needed)

You should ensure you take the necessary
steps to comply with the requirements of the
UK Bribery Act. See: https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/bribery-act-2010guidance, and see the Foreign and
Commonwealth Oﬃce’s Overseas Business
Risk report for Vietnam at: https://www.gov
.uk/government/publications/overseasbusiness-risk-vietnam/overseas-businessrisk-vietnam for up-to-date advice.

Bribery and corruption
Bribery is illegal. It is an oﬀence for British
nationals or someone who is ordinarily
resident in the UK, a body incorporated in
the UK or a Scottish partnership, to oﬀer a
bribe anywhere in the world.
Corruption remains an issue in Vietnam
and you are likely to encounter, or hear of,
corruption in one form or another, such as
facilitation payments, bribes and giving and
receiving expensive gifts in order to develop
business relationships.
Corruption remains a serious issue in the
court system as there is little judicial
independence in Vietnam.
In Transparency International's latest 2018
Corruption Perceptions Index (announced
January 2019), Vietnam is ranked 117th out
of 180 countries (the UK ranks 11th):
https://www.transparency.org/country/VNM.
This is a slight improvement over a few years
ago and, although modest, reﬂects the
government’s renewed eﬀorts to tackle
corruption, including a new Law on Access to
Information. However, the score has begun
to drop in the last couple of years and the
government’s eﬀorts have only translated into
limited action on the ground, as prevention
and enforcement activity remain weak.
The British Embassy, the Vietnam Chamber
of Commerce and Industry (VCCI) and IBLF
Global (a UK-based NGO) are working
together under the FCO’s Prosperity Fund
in order to devise the Government-Business
Integrity Initiative, allowing businesses to
work more closely with the government to
address private sector corruption and to
increase business integrity.

[Source – FCO Overseas Business Risk: Vietnam,
gov.uk, World Bank]
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Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

For more-detailed up-to-date information on
bribery and corruption in Vietnam, see the
FCO’s Overseas Business Risk pages on
gov.uk at: https://www.gov.uk/government
/publications/overseas-business-risk-vietnam
/overseas-business-risk-vietnam#briberyand-corruption.
[Source – FCO Overseas Business Risk: Vietnam,
gov.uk]

Intellectual property (IP)
IP rights are territorial, which means that they
only give protection within the countries
where they are registered. You should
therefore consider registering your IP rights
(if necessary) in all your export markets.
Vietnam is ranked 77th out of 140 countries
for IP protection in the World Economic
Forum’s Global Competitiveness Report
2018. See: http://reports.weforum.org/globalcompetitiveness-report-2018/countryeconomy-proﬁles/#economy=VNM.
Vietnam has the regulations in place to
protect IPR. However, enforcement is not
strong, so you should take measures to
protect your IP before exporting.
Trademarks, designs, patents and copyrights
are the principal forms of Intellectual Property
protection available under Vietnamese law,
and are all governed by legislation. The
common law also provides protection against
a person passing oﬀ goods or services as
those of another, as well as protection for
conﬁdential information or trade secrets.
The Intellectual Property Oﬃce of Vietnam
(NoIP) has responsibility for IP registration.
See: http://www.noip.gov.vn/en/web/english
/home, and the National Copyright Oﬃce of

Vietnam (NCO) at: http://cov.gov.vn/ for
copyright issues.
Businesses in speciﬁc industry sectors are
encouraged to research information about
IP issues that are relevant to them. Defensive
measures should be enforced early when
planning to enter the Vietnamese market.
The UK Intellectual Property Oﬃce’s (IPO) IP
attachée based in Singapore has a speciﬁc
focus on providing support and advice to UK
companies in Vietnam and Southeast Asia.
Email: christabel.koh@fco.gsi.gov.uk for
information. They also have a guide to IP
protection in Vietnam, available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications
/intellectual-property-rights-in-vietnam.
In addition, the FCO has up-to-date
information on the latest IP issues as well
as top IP tips for UK businesses on their
Overseas Business Risk pages of gov.uk. See:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications
/overseas-business-risk-vietnam/overseasbusiness-risk-vietnam#intellectual-property.
Cyber security
Vietnam’s new law on cyber security came
into force on 1st January 2019, introducing
requirements on data localisation, business
presence and user information storage and
authentication.
The law requires businesses to provide
information to Vietnamese authorities when
requested, and to prevent and delete certain
content within 24 hours. Detailed guidance
on the implementation and enforcement of
the law has not yet been adopted.
If you are planning to provide services to
customers in Vietnam over telecom networks
or the internet (e.g. social networks, search
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1DVK7HFKVSHFLDOLVHVLQVRIWZDUHGHYHORSPHQW
DQG %32 IURP LWV FHQWUHV LQ 9LHWQDP
+HDGTXDUWHUHG LQ WKH 8. ZLWK RɝFHV LQ WKH
86$(XURSHDQG$VLD3DFLȴFLWHPSOR\VVRPH
of the world’s brightest tech minds.

STANDING ON
THE BRINK OF TECH’S
TALENT BLACKHOLE
Matching the ambitions of your business with
the reality of scaling is tough. Recent research
shows that one in three digital businesses
had to turn away work, either because they
FRXOGQȇWȴQGWKHULJKWΖ7WDOHQWRUWKH\FRXOGQȇW
VFDOHWKHLUΖ7LQIUDVWUXFWXUHTXLFNO\HQRXJKWR
meet demand.
Finding enough talented technical experts
in the market is a major challenge for most
EXVLQHVVHV 7KH 8. RLO LQGXVWU\ DORQH ZLOO
QHHG  VNLOOHG SURIHVVLRQDOV WR ȴOO QHZ
roles in automation and data science by 2025.
:LWK Ζ7 GHYHORSPHQW DQG WDOHQW UHVRXUFLQJ
SUHVVXUHVWKUHDWHQLQJWRERLORYHUDJURZLQJ
QXPEHU RI 8. FRPSDQLHV DUH WXUQLQJ WKHLU
DWWHQWLRQ WR 9LHWQDP LQ WKH TXHVW WR VFDOH
their businesses successfully.

One such company is PXP Financial, a payment
VHUYLFH SURYLGHU 6WUXJJOLQJ WR ȴQG WKH ULJKW
WHFKWDOHQWWRGHOLYHUWKHLUFRPSOH[SD\PHQWV
VROXWLRQV HHFWLYHO\ WKH\ VHW WKHLU VLJKWV
EH\RQGWKH8.WRGREXVLQHVVLQ9LHWQDP%\
partnering with an outsourced technology
SURYLGHURQWKHRWKHUVLGHRIWKHZRUOGWKH\
DUHQRZOHYHUDJLQJJDLQVLQWHFKQRORJ\
and time.

7HFK PLQGV WKDW JR WR ZRUN ZKLOH 6DOYDWRUH
&LFHURWHQGVWRPRUHSUHVVLQJPDWWHUV$V&72
RI3;3LPSURYLQJWKHFRPSDQ\ȇVGHYHORSPHQW
methods takes precedence. Processing
PLOOLRQV RI WUDQVDFWLRQV IRU FXVWRPHUV HYHU\
year, it operates in a complicated market that
demands the latest technologies and the
tightest legislation.
ΖQVLGH 1DVK7HFK KH IRXQG D NQRZOHGJHDEOH
JLIWHGWDOHQWHGWHDPFRPPLWWHGWRDFKLHYLQJ
KLJKOHYHOUHVXOWV
Ȋ3;3KDVDNH\IRFXVDQGPRWLYDWLRQ
WRZDUGV FRQWLQXRXV LPSURYHPHQW
$QG 1DVK7HFK LV FRPPLWWHG WR
IROORZLQJ RXU $JLOH WHDP SURFHVVHV
7RJHWKHU ZHȇYH FUHDWHG D SRZHUIXO
FROODERUDWLYHWHDPHRUWHQVXULQJZH
KDYH D YHU\ VROLG GHYHORSPHQW 4$
DQGFHUWLȴFDWLRQSURFHVVȋ
— 6DOYDWRUH&LFHUR
CTO, PXP Financial

PXP has scaled and adapted only by introducing
a protocol for daily communication. From 9
XQWLOHDFKGD\NH\PHPEHUVRIWKH8.WHDP
are dedicated to supporting their Vietnam
WHDPV ΖWȇV ZRUNHG VR ZHOO LWȇV QRZ D QRUPDO
part of the working day.
ΖQ WKH FXUUHQW WDOHQW FOLPDWH WUDGLWLRQDO
URXWHVWRVFDOLQJ\RXUEXVLQHVVFDQOHDYH\RX
H[SRVHG WR WKH Ζ7 HOHPHQWV ZLWK WRR PXFK
demand and such little supply of technical
talent. Doing business in Vietnam could be
the answer.
%XWWRQ XS \RXU FRPSDQ\ UDLQFRDW VHHN D
superior
outsourced technical team and
*HWLQWRXFKWRȴQGRXWKRZZHFDQ
UHFHLYHȴUVWFODVVΖ7VXSSRUWWKDWZLOOKHOS\RX
KHOS\RXUFRPSDQ\VFDOHLWVΖ7DQG
scale yourGHOLYHUEXVLQHVVVXFFHVV
technical operations.
 LQIR#QDVKWHFKJOREDOFRP
 ZZZQDVKWHFKJOREDOFRP

engines, online advertising, online streaming
/broadcasting, e-commerce websites/
marketplaces, internet-based voice/text
services (OTT services), cloud services, online
games, and online applications), you should
seek legal advice about compliance with the
law, and contact the DIT team in Vietnam at:
https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations/
department-for-international-trade-vietnam
#contact-us.
Natural disasters
Tropical cyclones can occur along the
eastern coastal regions, usually during May
to November, although they may happen
outside of this season. The resultant rainfall
and strong winds can cause ﬂooding and
travel disruption.
You should monitor approaching storms on
the National Center for Hydro-Meteorological
Forecasting website at: http://www.nchmf.
gov.vn/Web/en-US/70/102/Default.aspx and
follow the advice of the local authorities,
including any evacuation orders.
Localised ﬂooding, ﬂash ﬂoods and landslides
are relatively frequent occurrences due to
Vietnam’s tropical monsoon climate which
produces large amounts of rainfall in a short
time. You should take particular care when
trekking through rural and mountainous
areas.
The UK Government has guidance at:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tropicalcyclones on what to do if you are caught
in a tropical cyclone.
[Source – FCO Overseas Business Risk: Vietnam,
FCO Foreign Travel Advice: Vietnam, gov.uk]
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VIETNAM

In Vietnam, meetings are vital to the business
process. Face-to-face encounters are preferred
by the Vietnamese, who are less dependent on
emails than Western business people.
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RESOURCES

What does membership of the Institute of Export &
International Trade mean?

To most the Institute of Export & International Trade simply plods away providing
much needed qualifications to professionalise the industry however, did you realise
that our helpline is one of the busiest and best in the industry? It’s all part of
membership and, if you need more than a phone call, we can put together a project
to fulfil your needs. 2015 saw the launch of our Technical Help for Exporters that
recognises the volume of legislation and regulation that covers our industry and
gives you the comfort of knowing that if you don’t know, you know someone who does!

Innovation is key to the success of the
Institute and new ideas include our
New Exporter package. This allows a
business to enter a new market secure
in the knowledge that they have an
understanding of how they will operate
and comply with any specific
regulations and standards. Practical
help and assistance is always
available from the Institute so any
additional training can be tailored
to the business and the team that
needs the knowledge.
The work of the IOE&IT also extends
to representing membership views.
Knowledge gained from our members’
feedback, those who get involved with

the forums and Special Interest
Groups, and those who attend our
training courses or study with us,
enables us to represent the industry at
government levels in both the process
and delivery of policy for international
trade. These views also help us to
ensure that the training programmes
are effective and pertinent to the
industry needs. Our Diploma in World
Customs Compliance and Regulation
is testament to the way we listen to our
members’ needs. This was driven by
Nissan, Adidas, John Lewis and many
others and will neatly dovetail into any
AEO work ensuring that quality
standards are met at manager and
junior staffing levels.

www.export.org.uk

Starting in 1935, the Institute committed
itself to building competence and
growing confidence for businesses
trading in goods and services, which
at the time, was a far reaching remit.
Over the years this remit has seen us
develop from simply providing training
in short course format over a day, or
perhaps two, into a fully-fledged Ofqual
Awarding Organisation that operates
specifically to deliver international
trade education.

our young people at an earlier stage.
We need to engage the next generation
in thinking about how world trade
works and how it will be great for
British businesses. They need to know
how items arrive in the shops which, in
turn, will begin to spark ideas. As these
young people join companies they will
bring a fresh outlook that all things are
possible especially if you operate
globally.

This status allows our individual
members and corporates alike to be
sure that they are part of a quality
organisation with plans for growth
integrated with a sustainable future
for the global prosperity of UKPlc.

Why not call us and get involved?
It has never been more important that
we act as an industry to help – we
need experts and commitment to
professionalising international trade
from businesses large and small –
help your institute to stay ahead of
the curve.

Part of our work includes mapping
existing qualifications to roles and
producing training needs analyses
to ensure staffing progression and
continuity. The need to upskill our
workforce to match those of our
competitors is a key element vital for
growth. Our focus is on recognising
that International trade needs specific
knowledge, coupled with a strong
belief that we must start to talk to

Institute of Export
& International Trade
Export House
Minerva Business Park, Lynch Wood,
Peterborough, Cambridgeshire,
PE2 6FT, UK
Telephone: +44(0)1733 - 404400
Fax: +44(0)1733 - 404444
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& INTERNATIONAl TRADE

www.export.org.uk

@ioexport

Choosing a great export training partner can really help your company take off in
international trade! We can help develop new ideas and find ways to drive down
costs and produce sustainable improvements in your export business. Our team of
experts can help with questions on documentation, export controls, Bribery Act,
Customs & VAT procedures, regulatory and compliance issues, insurance issues,
payment terms, transport and logistics...
Join us today

Membership : Training : Qualiﬁcations : Advice

Call: +44 (0) 1733 404 400 : email: institute@export.org.uk

IOE&IT Qualifications in brief
www.export.org.uk/page/qualifications
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Level 4
Level 5

Level 7

Young International Trader
(Available electronically)
International Trade Logistic
Operations*
Certificate of International Trade
Level 3 Customs Practitioner Award
Certificate in Customs Legislation
and Procedures (Delivered by
KGH Customs)
Certificate in Customs Duty
Calculation (Delivered by KGH
Customs)
Diploma in International Trade
Customs Practitioner Award
Diploma in International Trade
Diploma in World Customs
Compliance and Regulations
Foundation Degree jointly delivered
with the University of Plymouth
MSc International Trade, Strategy
and Operations with Warwick
University

Specialist Courses
•

•
•
•

Award in International Transport and
Documentation
International Marketing Specialist
Finance of International Trade Specialist
Selling Services, Software and Skills
Overseas

Apprenticeships
Working in conjunction with employers and
Universities, the Institute has access to
qualifications which are available now and
funded through the apprenticeship levy,
these apply for professional and degree
qualifications, including Bachelors and
Masters Degrees.
•
•
•

International Freight Forwarding
Specialist Apprenticeship (Level 3)
Chartered Manager Degree Apprenticeship (BSc Professional Management
Practice) with the University of Plymouth
Supply Chain Leadership Degree
Apprenticeship (BSc Professional
Practice in Supply Chain Leadership)
with CP Training Services

Using our 4 Pillars of Learning, the IOE&IT
qualifications offer students the opportunity
to apply their learning to their current
employer, or a business that they know well:

Learning Pillar 1:
World Business Environment
Learning Pillar 2:
Market Research & marketing / selling
in a different culture
Learning Pillar 3:
Finance of international trade, getting
paid and how foreign exchange works
Learning Pillar 4:
Compliance, regulations and logistics
OR Selling services overseas

As part of IOE&IT qualifications, students will plan, research and implement a work-based
project that will act as a useful strategic management tool in each of the main topics they
study. Each paper will produce a useful piece of work based on the company’s own product
or offering which allows the student to gain new knowledge to be useful in the business.
This style of work-based projects ensures that all study is relevant to the student’s business
context. Working on these projects using the organisation’s structure provides excellent
opportunities for the student to apply theoretical ideas in real world contexts.

The employee will essentially become a practitioner-researcher to undertake each project,
producing pieces of work with the potential to yield tangible benefits for the sponsor business –
a benefit for both the student who qualifies and the employer who has a set of reports
specifically about exporting and their own business.

*International Trade Logistic Operations is delivered through our approved centres
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The British Embassy Hanoi maintains and develops
relations between the UK and Vietnam.
Find out more on their UK and Vietnam news page, here: https://www.gov.uk/world/
vietnam/news. The British Embassy Hanoi provide services to British nationals living in and
visiting Vietnam. You can access UK Government services while in Vietnam
at: https://www.gov.uk/world/vietnam.
Their work covers a range of areas including:
•
•
•
•

political – diplomatic co-operation
global and regional issues
international trade

sustainable socio-economic
development

Urgent assistance
If you are in Hanoi and you need urgent
help (for example, you have been
attacked, arrested or someone has
died), call +84 (0) 24 3936 0500. If you
are in the UK and worried about a British
national in Vietnam, call 020 7008 1500.
Consular appointments
The British Embassy Hanoi is open by
appointment only, 9:00am - 10:00am
Tuesday and Thursday and 2:00pm 3:00pm Wednesday (except public
holidays).
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•

•
•

education, training, science and
technology
security and defence

people-to-people links

Get an emergency travel document
You can apply for an emergency travel
document if you are abroad and your
passport has been lost or stolen, damaged
or expired, and you cannot get a new or
replacement passport in time to travel.
Apply online for an emergency travel
document at: https://www.gov.uk/
emergency-travel-document.
If the person needing the emergency
travel document is under 16, a parent or
guardian should apply on their behalf.

You will need to obtain an exit visa issued
by the Vietnam Immigration Department

when leaving the country on an
emergency travel document issued in
Vietnam. This can take up to 5 working
days to obtain. Please contact the British
Embassy Hanoi at: https://www.gov.uk/
world/organisations/british-embassyhanoi#contact-us, as soon as possible
if you are travelling in a week or less.
If you are travelling in more than 3
weeks, check if you can get a new or
replacement passport in time to travel,
here: https://www.gov.uk/renew-adultpassport.

If you are not a British citizen or have
not had a British passport before
If you are not sure, check if you are a
British citizen, here: https://www.gov.uk/
check-british-citizenship.

If you are not a British citizen but think
you may be eligible, contact the British
Embassy Hanoi to apply for an
emergency travel document, here:
https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations
/british-embassy-hanoi#contact-us.

Once you have contacted them, you
will be advised to make an appointment
to apply for an emergency travel
document at the British Embassy Hanoi:
https://www.consular-appointments.
service.gov.uk/fco#!/british-embassyhanoi/issuing-an-emergency-traveldocument/slot_picker.
Other consular services

Notarial and documentary services
The British Embassy Hanoi may be able to
offer notarial services for British nationals
in Vietnam. Check the full list of notarial
and documentary services they provide
at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/
notarial-and-documentary-servicesguide-for-vietnam.
legalisation Service
Find out how to get official
confirmation that your UK public

documentation is genuine so it can
be accepted by foreign authorities,
here: https://www.gov.uk/get-document
-legalised. The UK does not require any
documents to be legalised for use within
the UK.
Consular fees
UK law states that the British Embassy
Hanoi have to charge for some of their
services. See the full list of their current
fees in Vietnam, here: https://www.gov.
uk/government/publications/vietnamconsular-fees.

The British Embassy Hanoi also provide
services in Ho Chi Minh City: https://
www.gov.uk/world/organisations/britishconsulate-general-ho-chi-minh-city.
Contact details
British Embassy Hanoi
Central Building, 4th floor
31 Hai Ba Trung
Hanoi
Vietnam
Telephone:
+84 (0)24 3936 0500
Fax:
+84 (0)24 3936 0561
Email for trade and investment in
Vietnam: DIT.Vietnam@fco.gov.uk
Contact form for consular enquiries:
https://www.contact-embassy.service.
gov.uk/?country=Vietnam&post=British
%20Embassy%20Hanoi
For enquiries that are not about
consular issues email:
generalenquiries.vietnam@fco.gov.uk
Oﬃce opening hours:
Monday to Thursday: 8.30am to
12.30pm and 1.30pm to 4.45pm
Friday: 8.30am to 12.30pm and
1.00pm to 3.00pm
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SUPPORTING ORGANISATIONS

The Institute of Export & International Trade
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The Institute of Export &
International Trade
Export House
Minerva Business Park
Lynch Wood
Peterborough
PE2 6FT, UK
T: +44 (0) 1733 404400
www.export.org.uk

British Expertise

British Expertise
23 Grafton Street
London
W1S 4EY

T: +44 (0) 20 7824 1920
F: +44 (0) 20 7824 1929

E
+

0

www.britishexpertise.org

International Market Advisor

International Market Advisor
IMA Ltd
2nd Floor
32 Park Green
Macclesfield
SK11 7NA
Email: info@ima.uk.com

General enquiries switchboard
T: +44 (0) 1298 79562

www.DoingBusinessGuides.com
Media enquiries
Newsdesk & out of hours
T: +44 (0) 1298 79562
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Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

UK Export Finance is the UK’s
export credit agency. UKEF’s
mission is to ensure that no viable
UK export fails for lack of finance
or insurance from the private
sector, while operating at no
net cost to the taxpayer.

We help UK companies of all
sizes and in all sectors win, fulfil
and get paid for export contracts.
We provide insurance to exporters
and guarantees to banks to
share the risks of providing export
finance. In addition, we can
make loans to overseas buyers of
goods and services from the UK.

SUPPORTING ORGANISATIONS

UK Export Finance

As the world's first export credit
agency, established in 1919,
we've been innovating since
day one.
•

•
•

Last year, we provided £2.5
billion of support for UK
exports, helping 191
companies sell to 75 markets
around the world.
77% of all companies we
supported were small to
medium-sized businesses.

We also lent £666 million
directly to overseas buyers to
help them buy from the UK more than double the
amount for 2016 to 2017.

New business enquiries:
To check your eligibility for trade
finance and insurance: Visit:
www.great.gov.uk/get-finance
T: +44 (0) 20 7271 8010
E: customer.service@ukexport
finance.gov.uk

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk
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SUPPORTING ORGANISATIONS

Department for International Trade (DIT)

Department for International
Trade (DIT)
If you have a specific enquiry
about the Vietnam market
which is not addressed by the
information in this guide,
you may contact:
E: enquiries@trade.gov.uk
T: +44 (0)20 7215 5000

Otherwise contact the DIT team
in Hanoi or Ho Chi Minh City
directly, for more information
and advice on opportunities for
doing business with Vietnam.
UK Department for International
Trade Vietnam
Department for International
Trade Hanoi
British Embassy
Central Building, 4th floor
31 Hai Ba Trung
Hanoi
Vietnam

E: DIT.Vietnam@fco.gov.uk
T: +84 (0)24 3936 0500

Department for International
Trade Ho Chi Minh City
British Consulate-General
25 Le Duan Street
District 1
Ho Chi Minh City
Vietnam
E: DIT.Vietnam@fco.gov.uk
T: +84 (0)28 3825 1380
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Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

Malaysia Airlines
Global Contact Centre:
+44 (0) 330 365 0080

www.malaysiaairlines.com

MARKET EXPERTS

Airline

Recruitment/IT Services

NashTech Global
NashTech Limited
11th Floor
10 Bishopsgate
London
EC2N 4AY

T: +44 (0) 207 333 8778
E: info@nashtechglobal.com
www.nashtechglobal.com

Business Association

Vietnam-UK Network
12-14 Victoria Rd
Kensington
London W8 5RD

Facebook:
www.facebook.com/Vietnamuk
network

LinkedIn:
www.linkedin.com/groups/7497016
www.vietnamuknetwork.org.uk

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk
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Trade shows

A trade show is a method of promoting a business
through the exhibition of goods and services, an
organised exhibition of products, based on a central
theme, where manufacturers meet to show their
products to potential buyers.

Taking part in overseas exhibitions is an effective way for you to test markets, attract
customers, appoint agents or distributors and make sales. DIT's Tradeshow Access
Programme (TAP) provides grant support for eligible SME firms to attend trade shows
overseas.
Participation is usually as part of a group, a great advantage for inexperienced
businesses, and is usually led by one of DIT's Accredited Trade Associations (ATOs).
ATOs work with DIT to raise the profile of UK groups and sectors at key exhibitions.

For more information visit: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tradeshow-access-programme.

IOE&IT’s events:
www.export.org.uk/events/event
_list.asp
10 Times
(formerly BizTradeShows.com):
https://10times.com/vietnam
British Expertise Events:
https://www.britishexpertise.org/
events/
EventsEye.com online database:
www.eventseye.com
DIT online events search facility:
https://www.events.great.gov.uk/
ehome/index.php?eventid=20018
3029&

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk
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Useful links
Country information:

Export ﬁnance & insurance:

BBC Website:
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/country_
profiles/default.stm

British Insurance Brokers Association
(BIBA):
www.biba.org.uk

FCO Country Profile:
https://www.gov.uk/foreign-traveladvice/vietnam

UK Export Finance (formerly ECGD):
www.gov.uk/government/organisations
/uk-export-finance

Culture & communications:
ICC – The international language
association:
http://www.icc-languages.eu/
Customs & regulations:
HM Revenue & Customs:
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/hm-revenue-customs

Intellectual Property:
Intellectual Property Office:
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/intellectual-property-office
World Intellectual Property Organization
(WIPO):
http://www.wipo.int/treaties/en/text.jsp?
file_id=288514
Standards & technical regulations:

Economic information:
The Economist:
https://www.economist.com/topics
Trading Economics:
www.tradingeconomics.com
Export control:
Export Control Joint Unit:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/
beginners-guide-to-export-controls
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British Standards Institution (BSI):
https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/
industries-and-sectors/import-export/
Export Control Joint Unit (ECJU):
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/export-control-organisation
Intellectual Property Office:
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/intellectual-property-office
National Physical Laboratory:
http://www.npl.co.uk/

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

Trade statistics:

Healthcare abroad:

HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC):
https://www.uktradeinfo.com/statistics/
buildyourowntables/pages/table.aspx
National Statistics Information:
https://www.gov.uk/search/researchand-statistics?content_store_document_
type=upcoming_statistics
Office for National Statistics:
http://www.ons.gov.uk/

Travel Health:
www.travelhealth.co.uk
TravelHealthPro:
https://travelhealthpro.org.uk/countries
NHS (Scotland):
http://www.fitfortravel.nhs.uk/
destinations.aspx
NHS Choices:
https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/
healthcare-abroad/

Trade shows:
British Expertise Events:
https://www.britishexpertise.org/events/
EventsEye.com online database:
www.eventseye.com
DIT Events Portal:
https://www.events.great.gov.uk/ehome
/index.php?eventid=200183029&
Travel advice:

International trade:
British Chambers of Commerce (BCC):
www.britishchambers.org.uk
British Council:
www.britishcouncil.org
British Expertise:
www.britishexpertise.org
British Franchise Association:
http://www.thebfa.org/international

FCO Travel:
www.gov.uk/browse/abroad
FCO Foreign Travel Insurance:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/foreigntravel-insurance

Centre for the Protection of National
Infrastructure (CPNI):
http://www.cpni.gov.uk/
Confederation of British Industry (CBI):
www.cbi.org.uk

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk
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Department for Business, Energy &
Industrial Strategy (BEIS):
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/department-for-businessenergy-and-industrial-strategy
Department for International Trade (DIT):
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/department-forinternational-trade

Open to Export:
http://opentoexport.com/
Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD):
http://www.oecd.org/
Overseas Business Risk:
https://www.gov.uk/government/
collections/overseas-business-risk

DIT E-Exporting Programme:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/e-exporting

Transparency International:
http://www.transparency.org/

Exporting is GREAT:
https://www.great.gov.uk/

UK Trade Tariff:
https://www.gov.uk/trade-tariff

Foreign & Commonwealth Office (FCO):
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/
foreign-commonwealth-office

UK Visas:
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/uk-visas-and-immigration

Heritage Foundation Index of Economic
Freedom:
https://www.heritage.org/index/ranking

World Bank Group economy rankings:
https://www.worldbank.org/

Institute of Directors (IoD):
www.iod.com
Institute of Export & International Trade
(IOE&IT):
www.export.org.uk
International Monetary Fund (IMF):
http://www.imf.org/external/index.htm
Market Access Database:
http://madb.europa.eu/madb/
indexPubli.htm
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World Economic Forum Global
Competitiveness Report:
http://reports.weforum.org/globalcompetitiveness-report-2018/
Vietnamese websites:
Directorate for Standards, Metrology and
Quality:
https://tcvn.gov.vn/?lang=en
Embassy of Vietnam (London):
http://vietnamembassy.org.uk/

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App

General Department of Customs:
https://www.customs.gov.vn/home.aspx
?language=en-US

Ministry of Foreign Affairs:
http://www.mofa.gov.vn/en

General Department of Taxation:
http://gdt.gov.vn/wps/portal/english

Ministry of Health:
https://moh.gov.vn/en_US/web/ministryof-health

Hanoi International Airport (Noi Bai):
https://www.hanoiairportonline.com/

Ministry of Home Affairs:
https://moha.gov.vn/

Ho Chi Minh City International Airport
(Tan Son Nhat):
https://www.hochiminhcityairport.com/

Ministry of Industry and Trade:
https://moit.gov.vn/

Intellectual Property Office of Vietnam:
http://www.noip.gov.vn/en/web/
english/home
Investment and Trade Promotion Centre
(ITPC):
http://www.itpc.gov.vn
Ministry of Agriculture and Rural
Development:
https://www.mard.gov.vn/en/Pages/
default.aspx

Ministry of Justice:
https://moj.gov.vn/en/Pages/home.aspx
Ministry of Labour, War Invalids and
Social Affairs:
http://english.molisa.gov.vn/Pages/home
.aspx
Ministry of Natural Resources and
Environment:
http://www9.monre.gov.vn/wps/portal/
english

Ministry of Construction:
http://www.moc.gov.vn/english
Ministry of Culture, Sports and Tourism:
http://english.bvhttdl.gov.vn/
Ministry of Education and Training:
https://en.moet.gov.vn/Pages/home.aspx
Ministry of Finance:
https://www.mof.gov.vn/

Ministry of Information and
Communications:
http://english.mic.gov.vn/Pages/home.
aspx

Ministry of Planning and Investment:
http://www.mpi.gov.vn/en/Pages/
default.aspx
Ministry of Public Security:
http://en.bocongan.gov.vn/

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk
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Enter the Open to Export Action Plan Competition
for the chance to win £3,000 cash and further
support towards your plans for international growth.
Complete your plan using our online planning tool.

Who are Open to Export?
We are the free online information
service from The Institute of Export
& International Trade dedicated
to helping SMEs through our:
Step-by-step guides covering
the whole export journey from
‘Selecting a market’ to ‘Delivery
and documentation’

A comprehensive webinar
programme covering all aspects
of international trade

The online Export Action Plan
tool helping businesses create a
roadmap to successful new markets

Quarterly competitions for the
chance to win £3,000 cash and
further support
Plan to win - start your Export
Action Plan today

Powered By

Register for free on www.opentoexport.com
to start your plan and enter the competition

Ministry of Science and Technology
(MOST):
www.most.gov.vn

Vietnam Chamber of Commerce and
Industry (VCCI):
http://en.vcci.com.vn/

Ministry of Transport:
http://mt.gov.vn/en/Pages/default.aspx

Vietnam Competition Authority:
http://www.vca.gov.vn/Default.aspx?lg=2

National Copyright Office of Vietnam
(NCO):
http://cov.gov.vn/

Vietnam Posts and Telecommunications
Group (VNPT):
www.vnpt.com.vn

National Web Portal on Immigration (for
e-visa):
https://evisa.xuatnhapcanh.gov.vn/

Vietnam Television (VTV):
https://english.vtv.vn/

State Bank of Vietnam (SBV):
www.sbv.gov.vn
The Government Inspectorate of
Vietnam:
http://thanhtra.gov.vn/en/Pages/Home.
aspx

Vietnam Trade Promotions Agency
(Vietrade):
http://en.vietrade.gov.vn/
The Voice of Vietnam (VOV):
https://english.vov.vn/

Vietnam Academy of Science and
Technology:
http://www.vast.ac.vn/en/
Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences:
http://en.vass.gov.vn/Pages/Index.aspx
Vietnam Airlines:
https://www.vietnamairlines.com/gb/en/
home

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk
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ABOUT US
Launched in 2007, Start Up Overseas has become the deﬁnitive
online resource for companies who are looking to expand
internationally, export products or set up overseas operations.
We have all the information you will need to trade in 60 countries.

LOOKING FOR HELP DOING BUSINESS
IN VIETNAM?
You are not alone. In January 2017, 29,064 companies used
Start Up Overseas to ﬁnd up to date information – and to ﬁnd
service providers who could help.

WHY DO COMPANIES USE START UP
OVERSEAS?
•

Country Guides – the essential information you will need to
trade on foreign soil.

•

Business Directory – A helpful directory giving you the tools
and contacts to run your business overseas.

•

Ask the Expert – Experts are waiting to answer your questions

•

Start Up Overseas Forum – Join our virtual community. Share
knowledge & advice with people facing similar issues to you.

•

Editors News – Subscribe to our free newsletter, and keep
completely up to date with all the developments in international
trade.

CONTACTUS
To contact the sales team: simon@startupoverseas.co.uk
To contact the editorial team: caroline@startupoverseas.co.uk
If you have any general questions email using the above details or call us on:
+44 (0)117 907 3520. See more at: www.startupoverseas.co.uk/aboutus

www.startupoverseas.co.uk
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Disclaimer
Whereas every effort has been made to
ensure that the information given in this
Guide is accurate, neither International
Market Advisor (IMA), the Institute of
Export & International Trade (IOE&IT),
the British Embassy Hanoi, the UK-ASEAN
Business Council (UKABC), UK Export
Finance (UKEF), Department for International Trade (DIT), or the Foreign & Commonwealth Office (FCO), accept liability
for any errors, omissions or misleading
statements and no warranty is given or
responsibility accepted as to the standing of any individual, firm, company or
other organisation mentioned.

The purpose of the Doing Business
Guides, prepared by International
Market Advisor (IMA) is to provide
information to help recipients form their
own judgments about making business
decisions as to whether to invest or operate in a particular country. The report's
contents were believed (at the time that
the report was prepared) to be reliable,
but no representations or warranties,
express or implied, are made or given
by IMA, the IOE&IT, the British Embassy
Hanoi, UKABC, UKEF, DIT or the Foreign
& Commonwealth Office (FCO) as to the
accuracy of the report, its completeness
or its suitability for any purpose.
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In particular, none of the report's contents should be construed as advice or
solicitation to purchase or sell securities,
commodities or any other form of financial instrument. No liability is accepted
by IMA, IOE&IT, the British Embassy Hanoi,
UKABC, UKEF, DIT, or the FCO for any loss
or damage (whether consequential or
otherwise) which may arise out of or in
connection with the report. No warranty
is given, or responsibility accepted as to
the standing of any individual, firm, company or other organisation mentioned.

Contains public sector information
licensed under the Open Government
Licence v3.0.

www.Vietnam.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk

Quick facts
Location: Southeastern Asia, bordering the Gulf of
Thailand, Gulf of Tonkin, and South China Sea, as
well as China, Laos, and Cambodia
Area: 331,210 km2
Population: 94.58 million
Urban population: 35.9%
Capital city: Hanoi (Ha Noi)
GDP per capita: US $2,551.1
Languages: Vietnamese (oﬃcial), English
(increasingly favoured as a second language),
some French, Chinese, and Khmer, mountain area
languages (Mon-Khmer and Malayo-Polynesian)
Religion: Buddhist 7.9%, Catholic 6.6%, Hoa Hao
1.7%, Cao Dai 0.9%, Protestant 0.9%, Muslim 0.1%,
none 81.8%
Government: communist state
Legal system: civil law system
Currency: Vietnamese Dong (VND)
Climate: tropical in south; monsoonal in north with
hot, rainy season (May to September) and warm, dry
season (October to March)
Natural resources: antimony, phosphates, coal,
manganese, rare earth elements, bauxite, chromate,
oﬀshore oil and gas deposits, timber, hydropower,
arable land
Natural hazards: occasional typhoons (May to
January) with extensive ﬂooding, especially in the
Mekong River delta
Time diﬀerence: UTC+7
Internet country code: .vn
National holidays: Independence Day (National
Day), 2nd September (1945)
National symbols: yellow, ﬁve-pointed star on red
ﬁeld; lotus blossom; national colours: red, yellow

[Source – FCO Economics Unit, CIA World Factbook
(November 2019)]

REACH THOUSANDS OF POTENTIAL CUSTOMERS

WORLD

TRADE
MATTERS

Reach our readership of thousands of exporters
and decision-makers with a one-page ad in
World Trade Matters.

Readership: Senior decision-makers in UK government and
international trade agencies. Our membership of thousands of
exporters. The broader UK export community at summits and exhibitions.

20% DISCOUNT FOR MEMBERS

To be seen by our readership as a leader in international trade,
please contact editor@export.org.uk for more information
World Trade Matters brings together thought leadership and updates from across the world of international trade. This high quality
journal sits on the coffee tables and desks of key decision makers in exporting businesses and governments around the world.

